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2013 Professional Division Report 
 
Jacqueline Jones, University of Texas at Austin 
Vice-President of the Professional Division 
 
 
In this my last annual report covering the activities of the Professional Division, I must begin with a note 
of gratitude to members of the AHA staff for their hard work, high level of professionalism, proactive 
approach to current issues affecting the discipline, and timely response to concerns of our members.  
Special thanks are due to Jim Grossman, Sharon Tune, Debbie Doyle, Allen Mikaelian, Julia Brookins, Rob 
Townsend, and Liz Townsend.  I also want to take this opportunity to thank members of the division, 
including Sara Abosch, Andy Rotter, and Lou Roberts. 
          
The PD was pleased with the success of the “Malleable PhD” thread at the 2013 annual meeting in New 
Orleans, a series of sessions and workshops related to careers outside the academy.  These events 
focused on jobs in academic administration, the federal government, and a variety of other sectors, and 
on the challenge of transforming graduate education to promote the malleable PhD. 
          
During its June meeting Council approved a recommendation from the PD that the Association issue a 
statement calling on graduate programs and universities to adopt a flexible policy that would allow 
newly minted PhDs to embargo their online dissertations for up to six years, if they wished to do so.  
This straightforward statement, which aimed to protect the most vulnerable members of the 
profession—untenured scholars—elicited strong reactions from members of the Association, from 
scholars outside the discipline, from university librarians and administrators, and from proponents of 
unfettered open access policies.  Subsequent to the announcement of the statement, members of 
Council and the AHA staff sought to counter the suggestions of critics that the AHA was insisting on a six-
year embargo in all cases (the statement stressed individual choice, not a “one-size-fits-all” policy for 
all), and to explain some of the unintended consequences that the lack of an embargo might entail—
including the reluctance of acquisition editors to consider even revised manuscripts if the dissertation 
had been online for any length of time, data mining by other scholars, and the decline of the published 
history monograph.   
            
The PD also responded directly to members who sought to consult with us on a wide variety of issues.  
In several instances we discussed a communication from a single member, and brought that issue to 
attention of the membership at large, or took action to encourage the Association to modify its policy in 
some way.  Council approved our recommendation that we change the wording related to the AHA 
practice of highlighting the administrations of those institutions advertising for positions in Perspectives 
on History and on the AHA web site that remain under sanction by the American Association of 
University Professors. We placed a notice in Perspectives warning members of spurious journals that 
offer to publish conference papers by historians and other scholars, often at exorbitant fees.  We issued 
a statement of support for a letter written by the Association for Slavic, Eastern European, and Eurasian 
Studies protesting a policy by the Russian government that would label any research institute receiving 
funding from outside the country as a foreign agent. 
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The PD also called upon graduate programs to embrace transparency in their placement records. We 
initiated an effort to revise and update the Statement on Standards of Professional Conduct, an effort 
that is ongoing, and we conducted a modest survey of AHA members who identified as faculty at for-
profit institutions.  Other topics of discussion included the charge to the newly formed ad hoc 
Committee on Adjuncts, and a revision and consolidation of AHA documents and statements related to 
hiring. We carried through with our successful program of offering childcare subsidies to members 
attending the annual meeting. We nominated Thomas Rugh (the outgoing chair of the AHA Finance 
Committee) for the Troyer Steele Anderson Prize, a move that was approved by Council. 
           
We received communications from members who had believed that their work had been plagiarized, or 
that they had been unfairly dismissed from their job.  We explained that the division does not 
investigate such complaints.  In response to such concerns the Vice President wrote an article for 
Perspectives titled “What the PD Can and Cannot Do” (May 2013).  Other Perspectives articles included 
“AHA Job Ads and AAP Censure” (March 2013) and “The Malleable PhD Mini-Conference” (February, 
2013). 
            
Over the last three years the PD has focused on three main areas of concern—the vagaries of the 
academic job market, the worsening work conditions and pay that are the lot of non-tenured and non-
tenure-track faculty, and the historians’ new digital world.  I think the greatest challenge for the division 
in the future will be to address these three intertwined issues.  More and more institutions, whether 
nonprofit or for-profit, are embracing a “business model” of academic administration, a model that 
seeks to instruct the largest number of students (in some cases through online instruction) for the least 
amount of money.  This approach however depends upon an ill-paid faculty workforce composed of 
individuals without job security or benefits, men and women who feel isolated from their co-workers 
and demoralized about their chances for participating fully in the life of the profession.  Certainly efforts 
to promote the malleable PhD will insure that fewer history PhDs see part-time, adjunct, and contract 
work as the only option available to them. 
            
It has been a pleasure and an honor for me to serve the AHA in this capacity over the last three years.  I 
extend special thanks to Sara Abosch, who is also rotating off the PD, for her service during this period. 
 
December 1, 2013 
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2013 Research Division Report 
 
John McNeill, Georgetown University 
Vice-President of the Research Division 
 
 
The AHA’s Research Division generally divides its times between routine oversight tasks related to the 
Association prizes and publications, and more expansive attention to research issues in the discipline at 
large. In 2013 our work fell largely into two categories: prizes and the annual meeting. 
 
Prizes: 
The RD is pleased to note that the fundraising campaigns for both the Bentley Prize in world history and 
the Katz prize in Latin American history topped the required $50,000 mark and therefore will be 
instituted and awarded at the 2015 annual meeting. These campaigns took well under two years, thanks 
to the efforts of Alan Karras and Merry Weisner-Hanks (Bentley Prize) and John Coatsworth and Barbara 
Weinstein (Katz Prize). 
 
The RD recommended accepting a bequest creating the Dorothy Rosenberg Prize for the history of the 
Jewish Diaspora, to which Council agreed in June. A modest fundraising effort will be required to teach 
the necessary minimum. The RD also recommended to Council that the AHA accept a further bequest to 
establish a Dorothy Rosenberg Phi Beta Kappa Fellowship for graduate students appearing on the annual 
meeting program. 
 
In addition, the RD clarified the prize descriptions of the J. Franklin Jameson Award and Littleton-
Griswold Prize. The Jameson Award, for the editing of historical sources, will be in future specifically for 
editing historical primary sources. The Littleton-Griswold Prize will henceforth be described as for the 
best book in the history of U.S.—not ‘American’—law and society, to avoid confusion with the 
hemispheric meaning of that word. 
 
The RD also adjusted the length of the terms of the Helen and Howard R. Marraro Prize committee 
members so as to match those served by committee members nominated by the American Catholic 
Historical Association and the Society for Historical Italian Studies. 
 
Eager for still further work on prizes, the RD agreed with a recommendation from the John E. O’Connor 
Film Award committee to the effect that the RD should have oversight of this award and worked with 
the prize committee to reinvigorate the prize. 
  
Annual Meeting: 
Several issues came up concerning the AHA’s annual meeting on which the RD ruled or made 
recommendations to Council. The RD clarified the policy for the $10,000 fund for travel grants to foreign 
scholars controlled by the Program Committee, specifying that these grants should go only to scholars 
participating in sessions organized by the Program Committee (so as to avoid responsibility for means-
testing the many foreign scholars who might be eligible).   
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The RD approved a suggestion that the Program Committee should be able to waive registration fees for 
up to 10 non-historians specifically invited to participate on sessions organized by the committee. 
 
The RD revised the Annual Meeting Guidelines to permit the Local Arrangements Committee to create 
up to 5 sessions at the meeting, which in effect ratifies recent practice. 
 
The RD approved a suggestion from the staff to separate the awards ceremony and presidential address, 
which takes effect at this (2014) annual meeting. 
 
In response to consistent impatience with the traditional format of AHA panels, the RD encouraged the 
use of creative and experimental session formats through a memo to the Program Committee and 
articles in Perspectives.   
 
Miscellany: 
As usual, in 2013 a fair bit of the RD’s work fell under the heading of miscellany.   
  
The RD crafted three letters from the president and executive director: a letter of support in the Luke 
Nichter lawsuit regarding unsealing records in the US v. Liddy (Watergate) case; a letter to the Archivist 
of the United States in the form of comments on the National Archives strategic plan; and a letter to the 
Secretary of State asking to facilitate visas for scholars from Cuba attending the conference of the Latin 
American Studies Association. 
 
In response to a member’s request, the RD issued a statement discouraging journals from circulating 
draft articles to potential reviewers (this statement will be up on the blog shortly and in the January 
Perspectives). 
 
In order to encourage the further use of articles appearing in Perspectives, the RD endorsed the use of a 
Creative Commons CC-BY-NC-ND license for them. 
 
Ending a decades-old tradition, the RD decided against publishing a revised AHA Guide to Historical 
Literature in spite of an invitation from Oxford University Press to do so. The RD’s logic in this case was 
that (a) in this day and age with bibliographies and book reviews readily available, the value added of a 
new Guide is much reduced and (b) the opportunity cost in terms of time invested by hundreds of AHA 
members remains considerable. 
 
Lastly, the RD kept abreast of the ongoing search for the next editor of the AHR, a quest on which the 
Division’s Vice-President has lavished time, energy, and his modest supply of tact. 
 
By way of conclusion, I wish to thank the members of the Research Division Stephen Aron,  
Martha Howell, Randall Packard, and our ex-officio member Rob Schneider for their good work and 
judgment in 2013. Lastly, I wish to thank Debbie Doyle for her indispensable guidance and crisp 
efficiency. 
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2013 Teaching Division Report 
 
Elaine Carey, St. John’s University 
Vice President, Teaching Division 
 
Over the course of 2013, the Teaching Division has worked on a number of projects, developed new 
collaborations, and initiated new projects to enhance the teaching of history at all levels.  These projects 
will strengthen ties between the AHA and its diverse constituents: K-12 teachers, higher education 
professors, historical practitioners, and historians in industry, government, and other areas.  
 
In 2011, Patty Limerick and Jim Grossman successfully authored an $837,000 grant proposal from the 
Lumina Foundation for the History Tuning Project.  Tuning is a faculty-led project to enable history 
departments to articulate the disciplinary core of historical study and to define what a student should 
understand and be able to do at the completion of a history degree program.  In June 2012, nearly 70 
historians gathered in Washington DC to begin the Tuning process.  In 2013, many met again at the AHA 
annual meeting in New Orleans.  The second full project meeting took place in Washington in February, 
2013, where faculty discussed their progress and presented their findings and accomplishments. Several 
faculty participants in Tuning wrote articles regarding the process in a Tuning forum published in the 
April 2013 issue of Perspectives on History.   In September, Teaching Division member Anne Hyde 
compiled the tuners’ many ideas and suggestions to articulate the AHA’s History Tuning Project: History 
Discipline Core.  On Thursday January 2, 2014, Tuners held a series of workshops regarding the teaching 
of history in general education, building bridges to STEM disciplines, and quantitative fluency. 
 
The NEH-sponsored project, Bridging Cultures at Community Colleges, continues.  From January 14-18, 
2013, William Deverell (Univ. of Southern California and Huntington Library), led the first institute at the 
Huntington Library in San Marino, California.  Twenty-three community college professors joined 
Deverell and other scholars to explore Pacific Rim history and learn more about globalizing U.S. History.  
The second institute will take place in Washington DC, January 5-10, 2014. Philip Morgan (Johns Hopkins 
University) will lead this institute, and Teaching Division member Josh Reid will join Morgan and other 
scholars.    
 
Working closely with the National Council for Social Studies (NCSS) and over 3000 social studies 
professionals, the TD members reviewed the College, Career, and Civic Life (C3) Framework for Social 
Studies State Standards that offers guidelines to promote inquiry-based learning of civics, economics, 
geography, and history.  The AHA was represented by Merry Wiesner-Hanks (Univ of Wisconsin, 
Milwaukee) in the process of drafting the standards. During the draft review, the TD recognized the 
positive integration of historical inquiry, and also stressed the importance of people as agents essential 
to historical processes and as the creators of evidence.  The C3 Framework is intended as a guide for 
teachers, school districts, and curriculum writers, but college and university teachers might also find 
interesting approaches to teach critical thinking and problem solving.  
 
To promote the teaching of History at the K-12 levels, the TD has embarked on collaborations with the 
Gilder Lehrman Institute of American History (GLI) and Microsoft Research and Learn NC.  On Saturday, 
January 4, the AHA, the GLI, and NCSS hosted a K-12 workshop: “Atlantic Encounters: Internationalizing 
U.S. History in the Classroom.” Joining Denver Brunsman (George Washington Univ.) and Tim Bailey 

http://www.historians.org/teaching-and-learning/current-projects/tuning/history-discipline-core
http://www.historians.org/teaching-and-learning/current-projects/tuning/history-discipline-core
http://www.historians.org/teaching-and-learning/current-projects/tuning/history-discipline-core
http://www.historians.org/teaching-and-learning/current-projects/bridging-cultures
http://www.socialstudies.org/c3
http://www.socialstudies.org/c3
http://research.microsoft.com/en-us/
http://www.learnnc.org/
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(Gilder Lehrman), TD member Reid introduced is introducing the collaboration between the AHA and 
Microsoft Research’s ChronoZoom project by demonstrating how to use the tool to teach Atlantic 
Encounters. The TD began working with Microsoft Research and Learn NC beginning in August.   
 
At this writing, the TD has also begun to work with the Social Science Research Council, providing input 
to sociologists Richard Arum and Josipa Roksa, authors of Academically Adrift, on a study to understand 
undergraduate student learning in particular disciplines in order to offer tools to improve instruction. 
Members of the TD and other historians recommended by the AHA participated in a “listening” with 
Arum and Roksa in December.1 
 
As Vice-President, I have benefitted from the work of my TD predecessors, Patty Limerick  and Cheryll 
Cody, who breathed new life into the division with new projects. The enthusiasm and energy of Peter 
Porter and Josh Reid have made this experience well worthwhile.  I particularly want to thank Anne 
Hyde for her work coordinating the Tuning Project and her ongoing advocacy for the teaching of history.  
Lastly, I extend a warm welcome to Trinidad Gonzalez who joins the TD in 2014.    
  

                                                           
1 Academically Adrift: Limited Learning on College Campuses (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2010). 

http://research.microsoft.com/en-us/projects/chronozoom/default.aspx
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2012 American Historical Review Report 
 
Robert A. Schneider, Editor 
 
 
I would like to report on the American Historical Review to the members of the Council of the American 
Historical Association. 
 
Board of Editors 
 
The Board of Editors is at full strength and working hard. We try not to burden Board members with 
unworthy or unpromising manuscripts. All submissions are first read and evaluated in-house. Only a 
fraction of these are passed on to two Board members for their review. In addition, the BOE serves as an 
advisory council on a whole range of matters, especially in the commissioning and curating of editorial 
projects (forums, roundtables, review essays, etc.). And I have also charged members with seeking out 
and recommending promising work that might find a place in our pages. 
 
Current members of the BOE: 
 
David A. Bell (Princeton) Modern Europe 
Herman L. Bennett (Graduate Center, CUNY) Theory and Methods 
Timothy J. Brook (U. of British Columbia) East Asia 
Harold J. Cook (Brown) Early Modern Europe 
Belinda J. Davis (Rutgers, New Brunswick) Modern Europe 
Gregory Grandin (NYU) Latin America 
Susan Juster (U. of Michigan) Early American 
Jan Plamper (Goldsmiths, University of London) East Europe, Russia 
Prasannan Parthasarathi (Boston College) South Asia 
Emily Rosenberg (U. of California, Irvine) Modern US 
Carol Symes (U. of Illinois, Champagne-Urbana) Medieval  
Judith E. Tucker (Georgetown) Middle East 
Megan Vaughan (Graduate Center, CUNY) Africa 
 
I should note that as of this year, I have expanded and reconfigured the composition of the Board. There 
are now thirteen members; a position for the Middle East has been added; finally, there is now a 
position each for East and South Asia. 
 
I should note too that while members are largely selected based upon their expertise and 
accomplishments, there is also the concern to balance the composition of the Board in terms of gender 
and institutions (private and public). (Note, with regards to this: Megan Vaughan only moved to CUNY 
from Cambridge well after she was appointed to the Board.) 
 
 
AHR Activities 
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Editorial Initiatives: 
 

• AHR Conversation. For the past six years (excluding 2010 when I was on leave) we have 
published the AHR Conversation. The idea behind this is to select a topic of wide interest, recruit 
scholars from a range of fields and periods, and conduct an on-line discussion, moderated by the 
Editor, which is then lightly edited, footnoted and published in the December issue. Last year’s 
topic was, “Historians and the Study of Emotions.” This year’s topic is “How Size Matters: The 
Question of Scale in History,” which you will find in the December issue. The participants are: 
Sebouh David Aslanian (UCLA), Joyce Chaplin (Harvard), Ann McGrath (Australian National 
University), and Kristin Mann (Emory). 

• Projects for Forums, Exchanges, Roundtables and Review Essays.  As always, the main way for 
the editors to shape the journal and its content is by commissioning and encouraging Forums, 
Review Essays and other genres of publication. There are several Roundtables in the works as 
well (the Roundtable is a genre of publication I have introduced, comprised of a series of 
essays—seven to ten—that are shorter than regular articles, addressing a subject of general 
interest): “Biology and History,” “Ending Civil Wars,” “The Archives of Decolonization”, and “The 
State of the Humanities: Global and Historical Perspectives,” “You the People” (On European 
historians writing U.S. history), “The Cost of ‘Internationalizing’ History,” and “New Approaches 
to the History of Anti-Semitism.” There are also several Review Essays currently being prepared 
for submission on “Comparative History,” “Global Economic Development,” “Food History,” and 
“Business History,” among other subjects. While Review Essays are in many ways among the 
most useful and popular kinds of articles we publish, we have had great difficulty commissioning 
these successfully-- that is, to the point of publication.  We are thus making a renewed effort to 
see that more of these sorts of essays appear in our pages. 

• Digital Projects. In June I reported that we were not successful in finding a winner in our prize 
competition for the best article in digital history. This does not mean that we are giving up 
digital history in the AHR. To the contrary, it has only provided an incentive to be more 
aggressive in seeking out appropriate work of this sort for the journal. Two initiatives are 
relevant here. First, we have been engaged with several historians at Stanford working on 
“Mapping the Republic of Letters,” a project that uses sophisticated mapping and network 
analysis to present a new view of eighteenth-century intellectual and cultural life. Second, we 
are in the process of commissioning a series of Review Essays of websites specifically designed 
for scholars (as opposed to teachers, students or the general reader), and which take advantage 
of digital methods in order to analyze historical materials in new ways. 

 
Consideration of an International Advisory Board 
 
Last year I announced my intention to create an International Advisory Board, comprised of scholars 
from around the world who could serve as ambassadors and informants for the AHR. At this point, this is 
still a work-in-progress. I want to be sure that we assemble a roster of advisors from a wide range of 
countries, and especially to ensure that non- Western nations are adequately represented. I hope to 
have provisional list of names soon, perhaps in time for our January meeting. 
 
AHR Staff 
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The editorial and production staff of the AHR at Bloomington continues to function at an excellent level, 
with relatively little turn-over.  Key members of the staff are the graduate students who serve as 
Editorial Assistants (EAs). The EAs are responsible, under the direction of Assistant Editor Moureen 
Coulter, for the enormously complex process of selecting reviewable books, assigning books to 
reviewers, and then editing the reviews once they come in. They also proof read the entire journal 
before it goes to press. EAs normally serve three year terms, often renewable for a fourth year. The 
current Editorial Assistants, with their areas of specialty, are: 
 
AMANDA KOCH    (foreign language: Spanish)  
 
American Business (post-1930)  
American Class (post-1930)  
American Journalism (post-1930)  
American Culture (post-1930) 
American Labor (post-1930)  
American Political (post-1930) 
American Economic (post-1930)  
American Environment (post-1930) 
American Social (post-1930)  
American Science/Technology (post-1930)  
American Military (post-1930)  
American Race (post-1930) 
American Transportation (post-1930)  
Canada (post-1930)  
American Gender/Sexuality (post-1930) 
American Diplomatic/Foreign Relations (post-1930) 
 
DAVID JAMISON (foreign language: basic Spanish and French) 
 
Religion (American)  
Early America (to 1830)  
Canada (to 1830)  
American Law (to 1830) 
Native American  
Great Britain/Ireland (post-1689) 
 
SANDRINE CATRIS    (foreign language: French, Chinese, Uyghur; high reading skills in 
Spanish, Italian, Portuguese; intermediate Japanese) 
 
World/Comparative 
Asia 
 
DAVID EACKER    (foreign language: German, Bosnian/Serbian/Croatian, Spanish, French)  
 
Germany/Austria/Switzerland  
Jewish History 
Russia/former Soviet Union  
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Northern Europe 
Eastern Europe 
 
DENISA JASHARI (foreign language: not yet verified by Operations Manager)  
 
Africa  
Spain & Portugal  
Oceania/Pacific Islands  
Latin America/Caribbean Middle East  
Theory/Method 
 
ADRIENNE CHUDZINSKI (foreign language: basic French)  
 
American Civil War  
African American (1830-1930)  
American Military (1830-1930)  
American Women/Gender (1830-1930) 
American Social (1830-1930)  
American Law (1830-1930)  
American Political (1830-1930)  
Canada (1830-1930) 
American Cultural (1830-1930)  
Hispanic-American/Latino 
 
ROBERT WELLS (foreign language: French & German + some Italian & Latin)  
 
European  
Italy 
France  
Early Modern England (pre-1689)  
Ancient/Medieval 
 
In addition to these Editorial Assistants, the office of the AHR, 914 Atwater, is home to five other people 
who are indeed truly responsible for the excellent journal we edit and publish five times a year: 
 
Lara Kriegel (Associate Editor, Associate Professor of History and English, Indiana University) 
Moureen Coulter (Assistant Editor, Book Reviews) 
Jane Lyle (Assistant Editor, Articles)  
Cris Coffey (Operations Manager)  
Jessica Smith (Production Assistant) 
 
It is hard for me to express how crucial all of these people are to everything we do. They take pride in 
being associated with the AHR—and it shows! 
 
Oxford University Press 
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This is the second year of our relationship with Oxford University Press as our publishing partner. In 
general, the relationship has been a good and productive one. There have been several changes in our 
production manager at the Press, which have produced some minor bumps in the road. But at present 
we have someone in place who seems to be more than up to the job. In all my dealings with Oxford, and 
especially with Trish Thomas, their Director of the Journals Division, I have been impressed with their 
willingness to accommodate our particular needs and their eagerness to market the journal to libraries 
and institutions where we heretofore have not had much access. 
 
The Question of Open Access 
 
This continues to be one of our top concerns—and it’s certainly not going away. One of the major 
developments in the last year has been the push back from a number of British history journals against 
the Research Councils United Kingdom’s (RCUK) so-called Finch Report, which endorsed a “Gold” Open 
Access policy for all government funded research publications—with publication costs covered by 
authors. These journals, which the AHR and AHA joined in supporting, advocated instead the “Green” 
option, with a 36 month embargo period. On the domestic front, we are increasingly confronted with 
university policies which mandate that faculty deposit their research papers in an open- access 
repository. While our agreement with OUP allows for authors to provide a URL link to their articles, this 
does not seem to satisfy the requirements of most institutions’ new policies in this area. Stay tuned. 
 
Cooperation with the AHA and IU on Technical Matters 
 
We recently had a very productive meeting with Vanessa Varin and Seth Denbo on how the expertise 
they bring to the AHA might be shared with the AHR. We are confident that with their talented help we 
will make much-need progress in our Bloomington office, especially with regards to improving our 
webpage and coaxing our database into performing functions necessary to our operation. I have also 
entered into discussions with IT people at Indiana University to see how they too can help us improve 
our range of technical capabilities. 
 
Search for New Editor 
 
My second and final five-year term as Editor will end in 2015.  A search for a successor is currently taking 
place, with a committee comprised of two members from the IU Department of History and two 
representatives of the AHA.  My role in all of this has and will be strictly limited: I am happy to provide 
information and advice, both to candidates and the members of the Search Committee, but when the 
process gets to the decision- making phases I will recuse myself.  For reasons that are both obvious and 
complex, I do not think it proper that I be involved in any way in choosing my successor. 
 
Budget, Printing and Publishing 
 
The journal is operating within its 2013-14 budget. 
 
I welcome any comments you care to share on this report or any other issues relating to the AHR. 
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2013 Graduate and Early Career 
Committee Report 
Michael Meng, Clemson University 
Co-Chair of the GECC Committee 
 
 
GECC has undertaken a number of activities in support of the graduate student and early career 
members of the organization over the last year. 
 
2013 Annual Meeting 
 
We sponsored four sessions at the annual meeting in New Orleans: “Professional Development: Turning 
Your Dissertation into a Book,” “Early Career Historians: Funding Your Research,” “Meet the Editors: A 
Hands-on Workshop with History Journal Editors” (joint with the Research Division and the Conference 
of Historical Journals), and the annual interviewing workshop. We also organized a well-received 
orientation session for first-time attendees.  
Moving the graduate student reception to Thursday evening has proven to be a great success. Over 100 
people attended. Offering books signed by the AHA presidents as a door prize was extremely popular. 
We plan to do it again in 2014. Attendees truly appreciated the chance to mingle with the presidents at 
the reception. 
Our experiment with holding our annual open forum on Saturday evening was less successful. We hoped 
that the timing would allow participants to discuss the Malleable PhD strand, but the forum was poorly 
attended. Participants requested that it be scheduled earlier in the meeting in the future. 
 
2014 Annual Meeting 
 
GECC is sponsoring two sessions to take place at the 2014 meeting in Washington, DC: one on surviving 
your first year of teaching and the annual interviewing workshop. Members also helped recruit a session 
on publishing while employed outside the academy. We will hold the open forum on Friday afternoon 
from 2:30–3:30 p.m. We will also sponsor the orientation session and reception again. 
 
Other Activities 
 
Several committee members met for lunch at the annual meeting. We briefly discussed ways to use 
social media to help graduate students feel more involved in the AHA, perhaps through an online 
discussion forum or a blog roll. Members were pleased by the staff’s efforts to use Twitter, Facebook, 
and FourSquare at the meeting. 
 
Members are enthusiastic about the Mellon-funded Malleable PhD project and eager to see the results. 
We plan to incorporate a discussion of graduate students’ interest in and knowledge of employment 
outside the academy into the 2014 open forum. 
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Finally, the committee discussed in the fall the AHA’s website and made suggestions for improvement of 
its pages related to the needs of graduate students and early career professionals. In December, the 
committee held a short meeting through the web to organize its activities for the 2014 annual meeting.  
 
Thanks 
 
I would like to thank Laura Isabel Serna and Mark O’Tool for their service to the GECC. Laura Isabel and 
Mark rotated off after the AHA meeting in New Orleans. Likewise, I would like to welcome new 
members Joshua Reid (Councilor, Teaching) and Jesse Cromwell (at large). The committee is co-chaired 
by one of the at-large members and the graduate student or early career professional elected to the 
AHA Council. At Laura Isabel’s suggestion, we have agreed that the at-large member should take on 
most of the work of chairing the committee. 
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2013 Advisory Committee on Disability 
Report 
Sandy Sufian, University of Illinois College of Medicine 

After several years of this idea being delayed, Mike Rembis and Sandy Sufian of the AHA Advisory 
Committee on Disability decided to revisit the idea of a Disability History Mentorship program and work 
on its parameters in the summer 2013.   Paul Longmore conceived of the idea itself during his time on 
the Task Force for Disability of the AHA.  He originally wanted the mentorship program to be focused on 
students and faculty with disabilities only but Mike and Sandy felt that mentorship was needed for 
graduate students working in disability history itself and that we needed to use the program to push for 
a strong, new generation of scholars in disability history.  Where applicable, we try to match faculty and 
students with disabilities together so as to have that relationship both address general mentorship 
issues but also particular ones dealing with accessibility, disclosure, etc. However, we did not want to 
make it exclusively one about disability status, but rather about promoting the subfield of disability 
history.  
 
We researched other mentorship programs and found that that the APA’s programs (psychology) were 
well developed and could serve as a general template for ours.  We also found the materials of the 
MORE program of University of Michigan (more.umich.edu) extremely helpful and refer to their public-
access documents on mentoring and the mentorship relationship through the AHA Communities web 
page.   
 
The main purpose of the program is to create an informal relationship between a graduate student and 
a faculty member in disability history that will help graduate students navigate academic challenges over 
and above the advice given by advisors and committee members.  We hope that advice by a disability 
historian will provide unique insights for succeeding in this field.  Individual pairs will determine the 
content of the relationship itself, although we have specified an amount of time each set of people must 
devote to the mentorship relationship. 
 
We presently have eighteen pairs of mentors and mentees in the program. We are still searching for 
additional mentors to match with waiting students. Matches are made twice a year, at the beginning of 
each semester, but people are able to apply throughout the year. All information is kept confidential via 
a secure server of the AHA. 
 
The AHA has provided tremendous support and technical expertise for facilitating this program. The 
organization is firmly committed to the program and its success. 
In addition to the mentor-mentee relationship, Mike and Sandy hope to develop online seminars for 
graduate students who have signed up to share their work—a sort of online reading/writing group with 
peer mentorship.  This part of the program is less well developed and will be instituted a bit later on, in 
order to give the central task at hand a chance to solidify.  There may be a need for early career 
mentorship and/or mentorship for faculty moving from one field to disability history, but this too may 
be developed after the initial stage of graduate/faculty mentorship. 
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Overall, we believe this is an important program to offer faculty and students in disability history and we 
hope it will grow in the years to come. 
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2013 Committee on Women Historians 
Report 
 
Leora Auslander, University of Chicago 
 
During the last six months the Committee on Women Historians has been largely engaged in planning 
for the January meetings in Washington. We have a very full slate of events some of which will provide a 
space for conversation, others will offer practical advice, and several will look back at the achievements 
of earlier generations of women historians and initiate a cross-generational conversation about both the 
state of the field of gender history and the status of women in the discipline. The sessions will help us 
assess where we are, how far we have come, what remains to be done, and the future of women’s and 
gender history.   
 
Session: Negotiating your employment contract. 
 
Committee member Michelle Molina has organized a panel with three outstanding speakers including 
one who will provide insight on general strategies for effective negotiating, another, a department chair, 
will speak to what it is most important for negotiators to know, both at the "first job" moment as well as 
at the "retention" moment. The third is a recent tenure-track hire who also has experience as an 
adjunct, who will talk about what she found effective and what she wished she had known.   
 
The Breakfast: 
 
The breakfast provides an exciting and unique opportunity to meet scholars across generations working 
in all fields.  Rebecca J. Scott (University of Michigan) will deliver an address to the gathering entitled: 
Three Women: How Might One Generation Speak to Another…And What Will Be Heard?  The talk will 
look at the lives of three late 18th/early 19th century women—Sanitte, Adélaide Métayer/Durand, and 
Eulalie Oliveau—who were victims of enslavement or attempted enslavement in the Gulf South. It will 
also reflect on the narrative device of “three women's lives”—used by Anne Scott in her 1979 piece 
“Self-Portraits: Three Women,” and again by Natalie Zemon Davis in 1995 in the book Women on the 
Margins. 
 
In our efforts to broaden attendance at the breakfast we have reached out to colleagues in Latin 
American History, advertised it in Perspectives, and provided a subsidized rate for graduate students.  
Those efforts seem to have paid off and early registration is high.  
 
Brainstorming Session:  
 
Those who wish to continue the conversation more informally will have the opportunity to do so by 
joining in the brainstorming session sponsored by the CWH.  In a conversation started two years ago, 
colleagues raised a number of issues of concern. Although many gender inequities in our profession 
appear to have been remedied and the history of women, gender, and sexuality established in most 
departments, it is clear that balancing "work" and "life" remains difficult and harassment continues to 
be a problem. The paucity of jobs and transformations in higher education pose further challenges. In 
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the face of both improvements and continued and new difficulties, what are the urgent tasks for the 
CWH?  
 
This will be the third year of our brainstorming sessions held following the breakfast.  These have 
provided a very valuable venue for faculty and students from a wide variety of institutions to come 
together to discuss gendered concerns.  We had hoped to sustain those conversations over the year by 
means of a blog, but that has proven more difficult to sustain.  The continued high attendance at these 
sessions, however, indicate that even as simply an annual event they are serving a need and we hope 
that they will continue into the future.   
 
Lunch meeting of the Committee: Leora Auslander, Michelle Molina, Debbie Doyle 
 
The Committee has found that meeting only through conference calls twice or three times a year is a 
hindrance to its effective functioning.  We have tried to institute face-to-face meetings at the annual 
convention, but the cost of travel is rendering that difficult.  As in most years only two of the members 
of the committee will attend the convention, and the incoming chair of the committee will not be there, 
complicating the transition. We urge that members appointed to this committee be asked to commit to 
attending at least two of the three conventions during their term. 
 
“Generations of Women’s History,” a roundtable chaired by Leora Auslander (Univ. of Chicago): 
 
Speakers will include Natalie Zemon Davis (Univ. of Toronto), Crystal N. Feimster (Yale Univ.), Patricia 
Albjerg Graham (Harvard Univ.), Darlene Clark Hine (Northwestern Univ.), Linda K. Kerber (Univ. of 
Iowa), and Alice Kessler-Harris (Columbia Univ.) The presenters will reflect on what may be learned from 
the early struggles to establish women’s and gender history in the AHA and in the discipline to help us 
confront the challenges of the present. All of the presenters are distinguished historians, and several of 
them were involved with the CWH, formed in 1971, in its early years.  
 
Joint Session with the CCWH: 
 
Finally, on Sunday, January 5 from 8:30–10:30 a.m. in the Marriott’s Maryland Suite A, the AHA and the 
Coordinating Council for Women in History will sponsor a joint session, “Forty-Five Years of the CCWH: 
Then, Now, and the Future.” The session will explore the history of the organization and how it 
continues to both promote the study of women’s history and advocate for women in the historical 
profession.  
 
Summary: 
 
In sum, we continue to pursue our goal of developing both our professional and intellectual missions. 
Our primary goal is to find ways to more effectively address the challenges facing women in the 
profession as well as sustain and expand the breakfast and brainstorming sessions as exciting 
intellectual and political events.  
 
This is my last year as chair of the committee. It has been an honor to serve.  I would like to express my 
heartfelt thanks to Noralee Frankel who staffed the committee when I first took over the chair, Debbie 
Doyle who has done an absolutely wonderful job the last two years, and Jim Grossman whose 
commitment to this committee's work has made all the difference.  
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2013 Council, Divisions, and Committees 
 
Council 
Kenneth Pomeranz (Univ. of Chicago), president; Jan Goldstein (Univ. of Chicago), president-elect; 
William Cronon (Univ. of Wisconsin-Madison), immediate past president; Jacqueline Jones (Univ. of 
Texas, Austin), vice president, Professional Division; John R. McNeill (Georgetown Univ.), vice president, 
Research Division; Elaine Carey (St. John's Univ.), vice president, Teaching Division; Sara Abosch (Dallas 
Holocaust Museum); Stephen Aron (UCLA and Autry National Center); Martha C. Howell (Columbia 
Univ.); Anne F. Hyde (Colorado Coll.); Randall Packard (Johns Hopkins Univ.); Peter A. Porter Jr. 
(Montville Township (NJ) High School and Seton Hall Univ.); Joshua L. Reid (Univ. of Massachusetts, 
Boston); Mary Louise Roberts (Univ. of Wisconsin-Madison); Andrew J. Rotter (Colgate Univ.) 
 
Professional Division 
Jacqueline Jones, vice president; Sara Abosch; Mary Louise Roberts; Andrew J. Rotter 
 
Research Division 
John R. McNeill, vice president; Stephen Aron; Martha Howell; Randall Packard; Robert A. Schneider, ex 
officio 
 
Teaching Division 
Elaine Carey, vice president; Anne F. Hyde; Peter A. Porter Jr.; Joshua Reid 
 
Nominating Committee 
Raúl A. Ramos (Univ. of Houston), chair; Takashi Fujitani (Univ. of Toronto); Thavolia Glymph (Duke 
Univ.); Sandra E. Greene (Cornell Univ.); Pekka J. Hämäläinen (Univ. of Oxford); Moon-Ho Jung (Univ. of 
Washington); Dane Kennedy (George Washington Univ.); Alida C. Metcalf (Rice Univ.); Sophia Rosenfeld 
(Univ. of Virginia) 
 
Committee on Committees 
Jan Goldstein, chair; Mia Bay (Rutgers Univ., New Brunswick); John Connelly (Univ. of California, 
Berkeley); Suzanne Marchand (Louisiana State Univ.); Jeffrey Wasserstrom (Univ. of California, Irvine) 
 
Standing Committees 
 
Committee on Affiliated Societies: Jan Goldstein, chair; Robert Harry Berlin (Society for Military 
History); Mary C. Kelley (Univ. of Michigan, Ann Arbor); David Warren Sabean (Univ. of California, Los 
Angeles) 
 
Committee on the Harold Vyvyan Harmsworth Professorship in American History: Kenneth Pomeranz, 
chair; William Cronon; Robin Kelley (Univ. of Southern California); Philip Morgan (Johns Hopkins Univ.); 
Ian Tyrell (Univ. of New South Wales) 
 
Committee on International Historical Activities: Joel F. Harrington (Vanderbilt Univ.), chair; 
John Garrigus (Univ. of Texas, Arlington); Joseph Harahan (U.S. Commission on Military History); Carol 
Harrison (Univ. of South Carolina); Harry Liebersohn (Univ. of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign) 
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Committee on Minority Historians: Brenda Child (Univ. of Minnesota), chair; Karen Cook Bell (Bowie 
State Univ.); Maria L. O. Muñoz (Susquehanna Univ.); Mae M. Ngai (Columbia Univ.); Tyler E. Stovall 
(Univ. of California, Berkeley) 
 
Committee on Women Historians: Leora Auslander (Univ. of Chicago), chair; Stephanie M. H. Camp 
(Univ. of Washington); Karen T.Leathem (Louisiana State Museum); J. Michelle Molina (Northwestern 
Univ.); Laura Rominger Porter (Univ. of Notre Dame) 
 
Graduate and Early Career Committee: Joshua Reid (Univ. of Massachusetts, Boston), Council liaison, 
co-chair; Michael Liddon Meng (Clemson Univ.), co-chair; Paul T. Conrad (Colorado State Univ., Pueblo); 
Jesse Levis Cromwell (Univ. of Mississippi); Karen Cook Bell (Bowie State Univ.), CMH liaison; 
Laura Rominger Porter (Univ. of Notre Dame), CWH liaison 
 
Award Committees 
 
Committee on the Herbert Baxter Adams Prize: Clare Crowston (Univ. of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign), 
chair; Gary B. Cohen (Univ. of Minnesota, Twin Cities); Martin Francis (Univ. of Cincinnati); Susan 
R. Grayzel (Univ. of Mississippi); A. Katie Harris (Univ. of California, Davis) 
 
Committee on the George Louis Beer Prize: Herrick E. Chapman (New York Univ.), chair; Ruth Ben-
Ghiat (New York Univ.); GuenterJ. Bischof (Univ. of New Orleans); Zachary Shore (Center for Advanced 
Study in the Behavioral Sciences) 
 
Committee on the Albert J. Beveridge Award: Paula Alonso (George Washington Univ.), chair; Cornelia 
Dayton (Univ. of Connecticut); Amy S. Greenberg (Penn State Univ.); Kristin L. Hoganson (Univ. of Illinois, 
Urbana-Champaign); David A. Hollinger (Univ. of California, Berkeley) 
 
Committee on the James Henry Breasted Prize: Felice Lifshitz (Univ. of Alberta), chair; Christine 
Caldwell Ames (Univ. of South Carolina, Columbia); William V. Harris (Columbia Univ.) 
 
Committee on the John H. Dunning Prize: Susan A. Glenn (Univ. of Washington), chair; Gretchen A. 
Adams (Texas Tech Univ.); Juliana Barr (Univ. of Florida); Michael Kazin (Georgetown Univ.); John W. 
Sweet (Univ. of North Carolina, Chapel Hill) 
 
Committee on the John K. Fairbank Prize in East Asian History: Hyung-Gu Lynn (Univ. of British 
Columbia), chair; Timothy S. George (Univ. of Rhode Island); Thomas S. Mullaney (Stanford Univ.); 
Sarah Thal (Univ. of Wisconsin, Madison); Wen-hsin Yeh (Univ. of California, Berkeley) 
 
Committee on the Morris D. Forkosch Prize: Deborah A. Cohen (Northwestern Univ.), chair; 
Thomas Cogswell (Univ. of California, Riverside); Paul R. Deslandes (Univ. of Vermont); Dana Rabin (Univ. 
of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign); Peter Thorsheim (Univ. of North Carolina, Charlotte) 
 
Committee on the Leo Gershoy Award: Helmut W. Smith (Vanderbilt Univ.), chair; Marc R. Forster 
(Connecticut Coll.); Richard Kagan(Johns Hopkins Univ.); Robert C. Ritchie (Huntington Library); Rebecca 
L. Spang (Indiana Univ.) 
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Committee on the J. Franklin Jameson Award: Ann E. Moyer (Univ. of Pennsylvania), chair; 
David Eltis (Emory Univ.); Jane E. Mangan (Davidson Coll.); Barbara B. Oberg (Princeton Univ.); Daniel 
Robert Woolf (Queen's Univ., Can.) 
 
Committee on the Joan Kelly Memorial Prize in Women's History: Sheryl T. Kroen (Univ. of Florida), 
chair; June Melby Benowitz (Univ. of South Florida, Sarasota); Sarah C. Chambers (Univ. of Minnesota, 
Twin Cities); Tiffany Gill (Univ. of Delaware); Philippa Levine (Univ. of Texas, Austin) 
 
Committee on the Martin A. Klein Prize in African History: Toyin O. Falola (Univ. of Texas, Austin), chair; 
Lisa A. Lindsay (Univ. of North Carolina, Chapel Hill); Richard Roberts (Stanford Univ.) 
 
Committee on the Littleton-Griswold Prize: David L. Stebenne (Ohio State Univ., Columbus), chair; 
Annette Gordon-Reed (Harvard Univ.); Michael C. Grossberg (Indiana Univ.); Alison M. Parker (State 
Univ. of New York, Coll. at Brockport); Deborah A. Rosen (Lafayette Coll.) 
 
Committee on the J. Russell Major Prize: Katherine B. Crawford (Vanderbilt Univ.), chair; Todd Shepard 
(Johns Hopkins Univ.); Leslie Tuttle (Univ. of Kansas) 
 
Committee on the Helen & Howard R. Marraro Prize in Italian History: Marla S. Stone (Occidental 
Coll.), SIHS representative, chair; Alison K. Frazier (Univ. of Texas, Austin), AHA representative; 
Nicholas Terpstra (Univ. of Toronto), ACHA representative 
 
Committee on the George L. Mosse Prize: Tracie M. Matysik (Univ. of Texas, Austin), chair; Brad S. 
Gregory (Univ. of Notre Dame); Michael T. Saler (Univ. of California, Davis) 
 
Committee on the James Rawley Prize in Atlantic History: Sarah M. S. Pearsall (Robinson Coll., Univ. of 
Cambridge), chair; Matt D. Childs (Univ. of South Carolina, Columbia); Willem Klooster (Clark Univ.) 
 
Committee on the John F. Richards Prize: Durba Ghosh (Cornell Univ.), chair; David P. Gilmartin (North 
Carolina State Univ.); Cynthia Talbot (Univ. of Texas, Austin) 
 
Committee on the Wesley-Logan Prize: Laura Rosanne Adderley (Tulane Univ.), AHA representative, 
chair; Edda L. Fields-Black (Carnegie Mellon Univ.), ASALH representative; Jim Harper II (North Carolina 
Central Univ.), ASALH representative; Stephanie J. Shaw (Ohio State Univ., Columbus), AHA 
representative; third AHA representative to be appointed 
 
Committee on the Raymond J. Cunningham Prize: Cindy Hahamovitch (Coll. of William and Mary), chair; 
George B. Forgie (Univ. of Texas, Austin); Cynthia V. Hooper (Coll. of the Holy Cross); Bonnie Miller (Univ. 
of Massachusetts, Boston); Amrita Chakrabarti Myers (Indiana Univ.) 
 
Committee on the Herbert Feis Award: Carroll Van West (Middle Tennessee State Univ.), chair; James 
R. Akerman (Newberry Library); Redmond J. Barnett (Washington State Historical Society); James F. 
Brooks (School for Advanced Research); Patricia A. Schechter (Portland State Univ.) 
 
Committee on the John E. O'Connor Film Award: Vincent Aaron Brown (Harvard 
Univ.); Heide Fehrenbach (Northern Illinois Univ.); Robert Allan Rosenstone (California Institute of 
Technology) 
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Committee on the Nancy L. Roelker Mentorship Award: Carol S. Lasser (Oberlin Coll.), chair; Ruth C. 
Crocker (Auburn Univ.); Thomas Heaney (Feather River Coll.); Nancy J. McTygue (California History-
Social Science Project); Norman M. Naimark (Stanford Univ.) 
 
Committee on the Roy Rosenzweig Prize for Innovation in Digital History: Daniel J. Cohen (George 
Mason Univ.), GMU representative, chair; Stephen Brier (Graduate Center, CUNY), GMU representative; 
Miriam Forman-Brunell (Univ. of Missouri, Kansas City), AHA representative; Kelly A. McCullough 
(German Historical Institute), AHA representative; Michael H. O'Malley (George Mason Univ.), GMU 
representative 
 
Committee on Teaching Prizes (Asher, Beveridge Family, and Gilbert): Paul G.E. Clemens (Rutgers Univ., 
New Brunswick), chair; Maribel Dietz (Louisiana State Univ., Baton Rouge); William R. Everdell (Saint 
Ann's School); Roland Spickermann (Univ. of Texas, Permian Basin); Tim Keirn (California State Univ., 
Long Beach), SHE representative 
 
Grant and Fellowship Committees 
 
Committee on the J. Franklin Jameson Fellowship: Kimberley L. Phillips (Brooklyn Coll., CUNY), chair; 
Katherine A. Benton-Cohen (Georgetown Univ.); Sharon Harley (Univ. of Maryland, College Park); 
Clarence Lee Mohr (Univ. of South Alabama); Scott A. Sandage(Carnegie Mellon Univ.) 
 
Committee on the NASA/AHA Fellowship: Lisa D. Cook (Michigan State Univ.), EHA representative, 
chair; David DeVorkin (National Air & Space Museum, Smithsonian Institution), HSS representative; 
Andrew J. Dunar (Univ. of Alabama, Huntsville), OAH representative; Amy Foster (Univ. of Central 
Florida), NCPH representative; Douglas G. Karsner (Bloomsburg Univ.), AHA representative; Neil M. 
Maher (Rutgers Univ., Newark/New Jersey Inst. of Technology), AHA representative 
 
Committee on Beveridge Research Grants: Eric Arnesen (George Washington Univ.), chair; Karen 
D. Caplan (Rutgers Univ., Newark/New Jersey Institute of Technology); Pamela L. Riney-Kehrberg (Iowa 
State Univ.) 
 
Committee on Kraus Research Grants: Virginia D. Anderson (Univ. of Colorado, Boulder), chair; David 
John Hancock (Univ. of Michigan, Ann Arbor); Robert M. S. McDonald (U.S. Military Academy) 
Committee on Littleton-Griswold Research Grants: Leigh Ann Wheeler (State Univ. of New York, 
Binghamton), chair; Kenneth F. Ledford (Case Western Reserve Univ.); Charles McCurdy (Univ. of 
Virginia) 
 
Committee on Bernadotte E. Schmitt Research Grants: Michael A. Osborne (Oregon State Univ.), 
chair; Judith A. Byfield (Cornell Univ.); Larry Wolff (New York Univ.) 
 
Ad Hoc and Joint Committees 
 
Program Committee, 2014: Anne McCants (MIT), chair; Peter Perdue (Yale Univ.), co-chair; Julia Clancy-
Smith (Univ. of Arizona); Sarah Cline (Univ. of California, Santa Barbara); Peter A. Coclanis (Univ. of 
North Carolina, Chapel Hill); Joshua H. Cole (Univ. of Michigan, Ann Arbor); Rex Ellis (National Museum 
of African American History and Culture); James Harris (St. Margaret's Episcopal School); David 
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M. Kalivas (Middlesex Community Coll.); Kathleen A. Kennedy (Missouri State Univ.); Maria E. Montoya 
(New York Univ.); Eric Tagliacozzo (Cornell Univ.); Francesca Trivellato (Yale Univ.), 2015 chair; 
Andrew Sartori (New York Univ.), 2015 co-chair; Ariel Rubin (independent scholar), Program Committee 
assistant 
 
Task Force on Intellectual Property: Stanley Katz (Princeton Univ.), chair; Fred Cate (Indiana Univ.); 
Mark Kornbluh (Michigan State Univ.); Michael Les Benedict (Ohio State Univ.); Page Putnam Miller 
(Univ. of South Carolina); Robert Schneider (Indiana Univ.) 
 
Advisory Committee on Disability: Sandra Sufian (Univ. of Illinois, Chicago), DHA representative, chair; 
Jeffery Blane Cook (North Greenville Univ.); Jacqueline Jones; Leisa D. Meyer (Coll. of William and Mary); 
Michael A. Rembis (Univ. at Buffalo, SUNY) 
 
Task Force on Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer Historians: Leisa D. Meyer (Coll. of 
William and Mary), AHA representative, chair; Jennifer Brier (Univ. of Illinois at Chicago), Committee on 
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender History representative; Jacqueline Jones, AHA Professional Division 
liaison; Marc Stein (York Univ.), AHA representative; Susan Stryker (Indiana Univ.), Committee on 
Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender History representative 
 
AHA Executive Director James Grossman is an ex officio member of the Council, the three divisions, the 
Committee on Committees, the Nominating Committee, and all standing and ad hoc committees. 
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25-Year Members of the American 
Historical Association 
 
The following members of the AHA completed their 25th year of continuous membership in the 
Association during 2013. This list does not include members whose 25th anniversary has already passed 
and whose names would have appeared on previous such lists. 
 

Rouben P. Adalian 
Gareth M. Austin 
Omer Bartov 
Victoria R. Bazzurro 
Bruce Edward Becker 
Iris Berger 
Volker R. Berghahn 
Pamela Biel 
Lolita G. Brockington 
Maurice P. Brungardt 
Kathryn J. Burns 
Robert E. Carbonneau 
Julie A. Charlip 
Norah C. Chase 
William F. Cheek 
William J. Connell 
Olivia Remie Constable 
Robert Coven 
Douglas B. Craig 
Mark Cummings 
René A. De La Pedraja Toman 
Bernard K. Dehmelt 
Dennis A. Deslippe 
Paul R. Diamond 
Michael D’Innocenzo 
Thomas R. Dunlap 
Marvin Eisenstadt 
Gregory C. Ference 
W. Miles Fletcher III 
Michael Gonzales 
Joanne L. Goodwin 
Christopher D. Grasso 
Brian Greenberg 
William H. Greer Jr. 
James R. Grossman 
Carl J. Guarneri 

Robert G. Hall 
Sandra D. Harmon 
Randolph C. Head 
Aline Helg 
Patricia Herlihy 
Ellen P. Herman 
Carla A. Hesse 
Steven J. Hirsch 
Oddvar K. Hoidal 
Sandie E. Holguin 
Roger Horowitz 
David L. Howell 
Ahmed H. Ibrahim 
Hubertus F. Jahn 
Arthur R. Jarvis Jr. 
Jennifer M. Jones 
Mary Cecilia Jurasinski 
Daniel H. Kaiser 
Emilio Kouri 
Jan Ruth Lambertz 
Terry S. Latour 
Andrew H. Lee 
Isabelle Lehuu 
Susan B. Levine 
Peter B. Levy 
Daniel Kent Lewis 
Daniel C. Littlefield 
Maxine N. Lurie 
Elizabeth Mancke 
Holly A. Mayer 
Brenda N. McNamara 
Michael J. McNamara 
Rafael Medoff 
Isadore Mendel 
Leisa D. Meyer 
Stephen Meyer 

Kristie Miller 
Maureen C. Miller 
Stephen R. Morillo 
Paul V. Murphy 
William L. Myers 
Karen J. Nissen 
Michael A. Osborne 
James M. O’Toole 
Dominic A. Pacyga 
Nancy F. Partner 
Vincent V. Patarino Jr. 
Michelle Perrot 
Mark Allen Peterson 
Linda A. Pollock 
Susan L. Porter 
Allyson M. Poska 
Linda C. A. Przybyszewski 
Cynthia Radding 
James R. Ralph Jr. 
Virginia Reinburg 
Howard J. Romanek 
Leonard N. Rosenband 
Linda R. Ruggles 
Ruth A. Schlotzhauer 
Philip J. Schwarz 
Patricia S. Seleski 
Kathleen E. Sheldon 
Crandall A. Shifflett 
Walter A. Skya 
Pamela H. Smith 
Susan L. Smith 
Roland Spickermann 
Kenneth W. Stein 
Richard E. Turley Jr. 
Thomas A. Underwood 
John C. Van Horne 
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Peter G. Wallace 
Wilson J. Warren 
Carl D. Weiner 

Janice E. Whitehead 
Patrick G. Williams 
Kenneth H. Winn 

Alfred Wollmann 
Frank J. Zaremba 
Ronald J. Zboray
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50-Year Members of the American 
Historical Association 
 
The following members of the AHA completed their 50th year of continuous membership in the 
Association during 2013. The list also includes members who have already achieved this honor. 
 
Martin Albaum  
Lee N. Allen  
Herbert D. Andrews  
Howard L. Applegate 
Walter L. Arnstein  
Abraham Ascher  
Roy A. Austensen 
Ivan Avakumovic 
Bernard Bailyn  
Deborah F. Baird  
Jay W. Baird  
John W. Baldwin  
James M. Banner  
Harold M. Baron  
Samuel H. Baron  
Daniel A. Baugh  
John J. Baughman 
James L. Baumgardner 
Ross W. Beales  
Seymour Becker  
Kurt Beermann 
Norman Robert Bennett  
Walter L. Berg  
James M. Bergquist  
Milton Berman  
Winfred E. Bernhard  
Albert J. Beveridge III 
Richard F. Beyerl  
Thomas N. Bisson  
William H. Bittel  
Bradford B. Blaine  
A. Blane  
N. Jo Tice Bloom  
George P. Blum  
Allan G. Bogue  
Aaron M. Boom  
Charles M. Brand  

Christopher N. Breiseth  
Elizabeth A. R. Brown  
Rand Burnette  
J. C. Burnham  
Philip M. Burno  
Peter M. Buzanski  
John C. Cairns  
Daniel F. Calhoun  
Daniel H. Calhoun  
Richard L. Camp  
Francis M. Carroll  
Charles D. Cashdollar 
Richard T. Chang  
Lena L. Charney  
Roger Chickering 
J. R. Christianson 
Malcolm C. Clark  
Errol M. Clauss  
Nicholas R. Clifford  
Donald B. Cole  
Marcia L. Colish  
Frank F. Conlon  
Giles Constable 
J. Q. Cook  
Robert T. Coolidge  
Ronald E. Coons  
Sandi E. Cooper  
Edith B. Couturier  
Theodore Rawson Crane  
Don M. Cregier  
W. H. Cumberland 
E. Randolph Daniel  
Roger Daniels  
Gerald A. Danzer  
Calvin D. Davis  
Natalie Z. Davis  
Istvan Deak  

Carl N. Degler  
Frederick A. deLuna  
Charles B. Dew  
Duane Norman Diedrich  
James J. Divita  
Robert C. Donaldson 
Ara Dostourian 
Seymour Drescher  
Katherine F. Drew  
Herman Dubowy  
A. Hunter Dupree  
M. L. Edwards  
Owen Dudley Edwards  
Carol Jean Ehlers  
Irma E. Eichhorn  
Sydney Eisen  
Elizabeth L. Eisenstein 
Ainslie T. Embree  
Saul Engelbourg 
Carroll L. Engelhardt 
Iris H. Engstrand 
Donald B. Epstein  
Stanley L. Falk  
Durward Fant  
Robert H. Ferrell  
Norman B. Ferris  
Bruce S. Fetter  
Paula S. Fichtner  
Ernest F. Fisher Jr. 
Ralph T. Fisher Jr. 
Willard Allen Fletcher  
Mary Briant Foley  
John Douglas Forbes  
Robert Forster  
Daniel M. Fox  
Richard C. Frey Jr. 
Frank A. Friedman  
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Patrick J. Furlong  
Mary O. Furner  
James P. Gaffey  
Wendell D. Garrett  
Bruce M. Garver  
Donna B. Gavac  
Richard A. Gerber  
Larry R. Gerlach  
Lenore M. Glanz  
J. Philip Gleason  
Doris S. Goldstein 
Luis E. Gonzalez-Vales 
Bertram M. Gordon  
Leonard A. Gordon  
Henry F. Graff  
Richard Graham  
Walter D. Gray  
Jack P. Greene  
Victor R. Greene  
Raymond Grew  
Kenneth J. Grieb  
Patricia K. Grimsted  
Paul S. Guinn Jr. 
Samuel Haber  
Arthur Haberman 
Barton C. Hacker  
Wm. Kent Hackmann 
Edwin C. Hall  
Timothy Hallinan  
Paul G. Halpern  
Alonzo L. Hamby  
Craig R. Hanyan  
David E. Harrell  
Susan M. Hartmann 
Donald J. Harvey  
T.R.H. Havens  
Hugh D. Hawkins  
Ellis W. Hawley  
Albert A. Hayden  
Jo N. Hays  
Leopold Hedbavny Jr. 
Dorothy O. Helly  
James E. Hendrickson 
Melinda Hennessey 
James N. J. Henwood 
Charles J. Herber  
Richard G. Hewlett  

John Hillje  
Gertrude Himmelfarb 
Harwood P. Hinton  
A. William Hoglund  
Paul S. Holbo  
David A. Hollinger  
Robert B. Holtman  
Ari Hoogenboom 
Daniel Horowitz  
Richard M. Hunt  
Robert Edgar Hunter  
Alfred F. Hurley  
Stanley J. Idzerda  
Georg G. Iggers  
Akira Iriye  
Travis Beal Jacobs  
Konrad H. Jarausch  
Jerome Jareb  
Raymond J. Jirran  
Harold B. Johnson Jr. 
Herbert A. Johnson  
James E. Johnson  
Howard V. Jones Jr. 
Philip D. Jordan  
Jacob Judd  
Frank A. Kafker  
William Peter Kaldis  
William Kamman  
Michael Kammen  
Lawrence S. Kaplan  
John P. Karras  
Stanley N. Katz  
Firuz Kazemzadeh 
Thomas H. Kean  
Thomas M. Keefe  
Brooks M. Kelley  
Frederick Kellogg  
Philip W. Kendall  
Joseph Frederick Kenkel  
Alice Kessler-Harris 
Richard S. Kirkendall 
Glenn J. Kist  
Jacques Paul Klein  
William A. Klutts  
Paul W. Knoll  
Richard H. Kohn  
Paul A. Koistinen  

Harold E. Kolling  
Arno W. F. Kolz  
Jordan E. Kurland  
Walter F. LaFeber  
Daniel Lane Jr. 
Roger Lane  
Vincent A. Lapomarda 
Alphonse F. LaPorta  
Catherine G. Lauritsen  
Daniel J. Leab  
John L. LeBrun  
Richard A. Lebrun  
Maurice D. Lee Jr. 
Patricia-Ann Lee  
Andrew Lees  
Jesse Lemisch  
Richard William Lenk Jr. 
David Levin  
Vernon L. Lidtke  
Helen Liebel-Weckowicz 
Jonathan J. Liebowitz 
David L. Lightner  
Robert D. Linder  
Lester K. Little  
Leon F. Litwack  
Peter J. Loewenberg 
Joseph O. Losos  
Richard Lowitt  
William C. Lubenow  
Donald F. Manthei  
Frederik P. Mascioli  
Donald J. Mattheisen 
Allen J. Matusow  
John J. McCusker 
Gerald W. McFarland 
Lyle A. McGeoch  
Michael McGiffert  
Roderick E. McGrew  
William F. McHugh  
Allan S. McLellon  
William H. McNeill  
John W. Mcnulty  
James M. McPherson 
Samuel T. McSeveney 
Neville K. Meaney  
John A. Mears  
W. Knox Mellon Jr. 
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Michael A. Meyer  
Norton H. Mezvinsky 
Ronald E. Mickel  
Robert L. Middlekauff 
Edwin A. Miles  
Mary Emily Miller  
Norma Taylor Mitchell  
John Modell  
Raymond A. Mohl  
Robert J. Moore  
A. Lloyd Moote  
George Moutafis  
Armin E. Mruck  
James M. Muldoon  
John M. Murrin  
Edward John Muzik  
Duane P. Myers  
Otto M. Nelson  
Charles E. Neu  
Lee N. Newcomer 
Emiliana P. Noether  
Walter Nugent  
Patrick G. O’Brien  
Karen Offen  
Arnold A. Offner  
John L. Offner  
Keith W. Olson  
Ynez V. O’Neill  
Eugenia M. Palmegiano 
J. Norman Parmer  
Robert D. Parmet  
Robert B. Patterson 
William Brown Patterson 
Justus F. Paul  
Loren E. Pennington 
Robert C. Perkins  
Jon A. Peterson  
Richard V. Pierard  
John F. Piper Jr. 
Philip Pitruzzello 
Emil Polak  
Stafford R. Poole, CM 
James F. Powers  
Francis Paul Prucha  
G. Robina Quale-Leach 
Robert E. Quigley  
Theodore K. Rabb  

Hugh A. Ragsdale  
Paul G. Randolph  
Agnes Lytton Reagan  
Thomas V. Reeve II 
A. Compton Reeves  
Richard W. Reichard  
Alan J. Reinerman 
Earl A. Reitan  
R. Arnold Ricks  
Alfred J. Rieber  
Moses Rischin  
Robert C. Ritchie  
Phyllis B. Roberts  
Raymond H. Robinson  
Robert A. Rockaway 
Elliot A. Rosen  
M. C. Rosenfield 
Dorothy Ross  
Irvin M. Roth  
Frederick Rudolph  
Frederick H. Russell  
James D. Ryan  
David Warren Sabean  
John E. Saffell  
Salvatore Saladino  
Edward L. Schapsmeier 
Harry N. Scheiber  
Paul H. Scherer  
Albert John Schmidt  
Carl E. Schorske  
Arnold Schrier  
Paul W. Schroeder 
Lois G. Schwoerer 
Paul S. Seaver  
Walter A. Sedelow  
Howard P. Segal  
Gustav L. Seligmann Jr. 
Alexander E. Selikoff  
Calvin F. Senning  
William H. Sewell  
Edward S. Shapiro  
Emmett A. Shea  
James J. Sheehan  
Winyss A. Shepard  
Jerome Shindelman 
Paul Siff  
Paul L. Silver  

George H. Skau  
Thomas E. Skidmore  
J. B. Smallwood Jr. 
Pinkney Craig Smith  
Theodore L. Smith  
Wilson Smith  
Frank J. Smolar Jr. 
Reba N. Soffer  
Winton U. Solberg  
Thomas J. Spinner  
Alan B. Spitzer  
Keith L. Sprunger  
Peter D. L. Stansky  
James Stasevich Jr. 
Bruce M. Stave  
Peter N. Stearns  
Joseph F. Steelman  
R. Vladimir Steffel  
Harry H. Stein  
Stanley J. Stein  
Fritz R. Stern  
Zoe A. Swecker  
Samuel A. Syme Jr. 
Trygve R. Tholfsen  
Spero T. Thomaidis 
Donald E. Thomas  
Paul S. Thompson 
Brian Tierney  
Alfred Toborg  
Eckard V. Toy Jr. 
David F. Trask  
Robert L. Tree  
Robert F. Trisco  
John H. Trueman  
Melvin J. Tucker  
Graydon A. Tunstall Jr. 
Roger H. Vanbolt  
Milton I. Vanger  
J. Daniel Vann III 
Peter L. Viscusi  
Andrew Wallace  
Harry M. Walsh  
Solomon Wank  
Churchill E. Ward  
Kenneth O. Waterman 
John C. B. Webster  
Paul B. Wehn  
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Gerhard L. Weinberg 
Sydney S. Weinberg 
Dora B. Weiner  
J. Walter Weingart  
Harold J. Weiss  
Robert H. Whealey  
Lonnie J. White  

Nicholas Wickenden 
Mira Wilkins  
Bernard D. Williams  
George M. Wilson  
Gordon S. Wood  
Phyllis B. Woodworth 
William E. Wright  

Edith P. Young  
Mary E. Young  
Tsing Yuan  
Robert L. Zangrando 
Silvio Zavala 
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Life Members 2013 
 

Mary D. Abu-Shumays  
Michael P. Adas  
Kamran Scot Aghaie  
Lee N. Allen  
Virginia D. Anderson  
Jacob A. Antoninis  
Howard L. Applegate  
David Armitage  
John Wendell Bailey Jr.  
Deborah F. Baird  
Jay W. Baird  
Gordon Morris Bakken  
Peter Baldwin  
Suzanne Wilson Barnett  
William L. Barney  
Thomas William Barton  
Daniel A. Baugh  
Ross W. Beales  
Thomas D. Beck  
Philip J. Benedict  
Norman Robert Bennett  
Lauren A. Benton  
Albert J. Beveridge III  
Kathleen A. Biddick  
William H. Bittel  
N. Jo Tice Bloom  
Louis H. Blumengarten  
Aaron M. Boom  
Tim Borstelmann  
Peter G. Boyle  
Charles M. Brand  
Nwabueze W. Brooks  
Mary Elizabeth Brown  
Jurgen Buchenau  
Evan B. Bukey  
Nicholas C. Burckel  
Rand Burnette  
Philip M. Burno  
Phyllis J. Burson  
Orville Vernon Burton  
Caroline W. Bynum  
Daniel F. Callahan  
Ross J. Cameron  

D'Ann M Campbell  
Elaine K. Carey  
Charles F. Carroll  
Charles D. Cashdollar  
Richard T. Chang  
Joyce Chaplin  
Jian Chen  
Kenneth W. Church  
Constance Areson Clark  
Eugene Clay  
Edmund Clingan  
John H. Coatsworth  
Mary Powlesland Commager  
William F. Connell  
William J. Connell  
Giles Constable  
Robert T. Coolidge  
Roger W. Corley  
Theodore Rawson Crane  
William J. Cronon  
Lorenzo Crowell  
Andreas W. Daum  
Richard O. Davies  
Thomas H. Davis III  
Thomas J. Davis  
Cornelia H. Dayton  
Jeffrey T. De Haan  
Rene A. De La Pedraja Toman  
Frederick A. de Luna  
Carl N. Degler  
Sarah J. Deutsch  
Charles B. Dew  
Samuel E. Dicks  
Duane Norman Diedrich  
Katherine K. Dittmar  
John M. Dobson  
Robert C. Donaldson  
John Patrick Donnelly SJ  
George S. Dragnich  
Herman Dubowy  
Helen Dunstan  
De Witt S. Dykes Jr.  
Marshall C. Eakin  

Owen Dudley Edwards  
Carol Jean Ehlers  
Sydney Eisen  
Elizabeth L. Eisenstein  
Geoff Eley  
Yasuo T. Endo  
Saul Engelbourg  
John (Jack) A. English  
H. Bruce Fant  
Roger J. Fechner  
Felipe Fernandez-Armesto  
Norbert Finzsch  
Kirsten Fischer  
John Douglas Forbes  
John E. Frangos  
Joseph S. Freedman  
William W. Freehling  
Richard M. Fried  
Frank A. Friedman  
Christopher R. Friedrichs  
Peter Fritzsche  
James P. Gaffey  
Cheryl R. Ganz  
David T. Garrett  
Bruce M. Garver  
Donna Broderick Gavac  
Jay Howard Geller  
Larry R. Gerlach  
David M. Gerwin  
Timothy J. Gilfoyle  
Robert A. Glen  
Richard M. Golden  
Arthur E. Goldschmidt  
Philip Manning Goodwin  
Margaret W. Gosfield  
Patricia Albjerg Graham  
Victor R. Greene  
William H. Greer Jr.  
Janet Groff Greever  
Kenneth J. Grieb  
Patricia K. Grimsted  
James Grossman  
Paul S. Guinn Jr.  
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Barton C. Hacker  
Mark C. Haeberlein  
Timothy Hallinan  
John B. Halsted  
Sarah Hanley  
Bert W. Hansen  
James N. Hantula  
Robert L. Harris Jr.  
Robert P. Hay  
Leopold Hedbavny Jr.  
James E. Hendrickson  
James N. J. Henwood  
Charles W. Herman  
Harwood P. Hinton  
Paul S. Holbo  
Thomas C. Holt  
Robert B. Holtman  
Sandra Horvath-Peterson  
John M. Howe  
Harry Haywood Hunt  
Richard M. Hunt  
Robert Edgar Hunter  
Haruo Iguchi  
Donald W. Jackanicz  
Travis Beal Jacobs  
Ivan Jaksic  
William Jannen Jr.  
Erik S. Jensen  
Dick Johnson  
Harold B. Johnson Jr.  
James E. Johnson  
Kohei Kawashima  
Thomas H. Kean  
William H. Kellar  
Thomas M. Kemnitz  
Joseph Frederick Kenkel  
Linda K. Kerber  
Benjamin N. Kightlinger  
Michael J. King  
Wilma King  
Jeffrey C. Kinkley  
Peter N. Kirstein  
Jacques Paul Klein  
Mitchell Kleinman  
James T. Kloppenberg  
William Klutts  
Sally Gregory Kohlstedt  

Richard H. Kohn  
Thomas A. Kohut  
Harold E. Kolling  
Gary J. Kornblith  
Bruce R. Kuniholm  
Walter F. LaFeber  
Barbara Miller Lane  
Erick Detlef Langer  
Catherine Grollman Lauritsen  
Benjamin N. Lawrance  
Daniel J. Leab  
John L. LeBrun  
Maurice D. Lee Jr.  
Patricia-Ann Lee  
Albert Leighton  
Richard William Lenk Jr.  
David Levin  
Linda Lewin  
Vernon L. Lidtke  
James E. Lindsay  
John E. Little  
Daniel C. Littlefield  
John V. Lombardi  
Wm. Roger Louis  
Joseph L. Love  
Richard S. Macha  
Donald F. Manthei  
Frederik P. Mascioli  
Kevin George Mason  
Christof U. Mauch  
Jack E. McCallum  
David G. McComb  
John J. McCusker  
Michael McGiffert  
Ian G. McKay  
David O. McNeil  
John R. McNeill  
James M. McPherson  
Samuel T. McSeveney  
Neville K. Meaney  
Johanna Menzel Meskill  
Charles R. Middleton  
Edwin A. Miles  
Mary Emily Miller  
John Modell  
John A. Moore Jr.  
Robert J. Moore  

Joseph Robert Morel  
Stephanie A. Morris  
Charles J. Morton  
Jacqueline Murray  
Edward John Muzik  
Alfred F. Myers  
Jose-Manuel Navarro  
Clifford M. Nelson  
Scott Reynolds Nelson  
Lee N. Newcomer  
Alexandra M. Nickliss  
James P. Niessen  
Donald L. Niewyk  
Douglas T. Northrop  
Mary Beth Norton  
James Oakes  
Patrick G. O'Brien  
John E. O'Connor  
Francis O'Donoghue  
Karen Offen  
Ynez V. O'Neill  
J. B. Owens  
Merlin W. Packard  
Eugenia M. Palmegiano  
Stanley H. Palmer  
Loren E. Pennington  
Sean T. Perrone  
Christopher Phelps  
Victoria Phillips  
Jadwiga E. Pieper Mooney  
Philip Pitruzzello  
Emil Polak  
Robert W. Price  
Diethelm Prowe  
Francis Paul Prucha  
Allan R. Purcell  
G. Robina Quale-Leach  
Theodore K. Rabb  
Edgar Frank Raines Jr.  
Monica Rankin  
David L. Ransel  
Vera Blinn Reber  
Thomas V. Reeve II  
A. Compton Reeves  
Richard Reichard  
John P. Reid  
Benjamin James Reilly  
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John T. Reilly  
Alan J. Reinerman  
C. Thomas Rezner  
Paul John Rich  
Warren J. Richards  
R. Arnold Ricks  
Juan L. Riera  
Robert C. Ritchie  
Priscilla M. Roberts  
James M. Robertson  
M. C. Rosenfield  
James M. Rosenheim  
Steven Rosswurm  
Neil F. Safier  
Paula A. Sanders  
Jose J. Sanmartin  
Anthony R. Santoro  
Barbara D. Savage  
Edward L. Schapsmeier  
Paul H. Scherer  
Albert John Schmidt  
Hans R. Schmidt  
Thomas D. Schoonover  
William C. Schrader III  
Zachary M. Schrag  
Anne Jacobson Schutte  
Craig D. Scott  
Rebecca J. Scott  
Diana M. Selig  
Gustav L. Seligmann Jr.  
Mortimer Newlin Stead 
Sellers  
Edward S. Shapiro  
William F. Sheldon  
Merrill F. Sherr  
James Francis Shigley  
Arwin D. Smallwood  

J. B. Smallwood Jr.  
Frank J. Smolar Jr.  
Jay L. Spaulding  
Kurt R. Spillman  
Peter D. L. Stansky  
Kristin Stapleton  
Bruce Stark  
J. Barton Starr  
James Stasevich Jr.  
Samuel N. Stayer  
R. Vladimir Steffel  
Mark J. Stegmaier  
Kenneth W. Stein  
Mark D. Steinberg  
Charles C. Stenger  
John J. Stephan  
Phyllis Stock-Morton  
E. J. Stolns  
Eleanor F. Straub  
Pillarisetti Sudhir  
Charles L. Sullivan  
Yi Sun  
Samuel A. Syme Jr.  
Tracy R. Szczepaniak  
Charles Tandy  
Kevin Terraciano  
Janet M. Thompson  
Jerry J. Thornbery  
Eckard Toy Jr.  
Joe W. Trotter Jr.  
Douglas Tubb  
Joseph S. Tulchin  
Dale E. Tuller  
Laurel T. Ulrich  
Sandra F. VanBurkleo  
J. Daniel Vann III  
Josefina Zoraida Vazquez  

Kevin B. Vichcales  
William B. Waits  
Andrew Wallace  
Kenneth O. Waterman  
Janet S. K. Watson  
Lori Watt  
Edward Jay Watts  
Spencer Weart  
Charles W. Weber  
John C. B. Webster  
Sydney S. Weinberg  
J. Walter Weingart  
Harold J. Weiss  
Hermann Wellenreuther  
Alice A. Whealey  
Robert H. Whealey  
Lonnie J. White  
Meko E. White  
W. Ralph Whitley II  
Nicholas Wickenden  
Bernard D. Williams  
Charles E. Williams  
Donovan Williams  
Joel Williamson  
John E. Wills Jr.  
Leonard G. Wilson  
Allan M. Winkler  
Phyllis Bannan Woodworth  
Don J. Wyatt  
Ping Yao  
Edith P. Young  
Tsing Yuan  
Frank J. Zaremba  
Ruth Zerner  
Judith P. Zinsser 
  



Support 
 
Donors to the Operating Fund 
 
Donors to the Endowment Fund 
 
Contributing Members 
 
Donors to the Jerry Bentley Prize 
 
Donors to the Friedrich Katz Prize 
 
Donors to the Wesley-Logan Prize 
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Donors to the Operating Fund 2013 
 
Kevin John Adams 
Ruth M. Alexander 
Naomi J. Andrews 
Darlene Spitzer Antezana 
Stephen Aron 
John W. Baldwin 
Lois W. Banner 
Richard Raymond Barrett 
Daniel A. Baugh 
Susannah F. Baxendale 
Robert C Behles 
Wilson T. Bell 
Giovanna Benadusi 
Thomas Bender 
John Bezis-Selfa 
Dennis Keith Blackmer 
Rebecca Ard Boone 
Daniel Boone 
Elizabeth A. R. Brown 
Daniel R. Bruckner 
Robert D. Bulkley 
J. C.  Burnham 
Mitchell Andree Cain 
Christopher Campbell 
Oscar B. Chamberlain 
Malcolm C. Clark 
Lisa Forman Cody 
Thomas S. Colahan 
David Coles 
Jonathan C. Coopersmith 
Hamilton Cravens 
William J. Cronon 
Gregory Daniel Cusack 
Daniel M. Dorman 
Risha  Druckman 
Lisa Willow Dunne 
Judie Hope Edlin 
Rebecca B. Edwards 

Robin Einhorn 
Robin Gates Elliott 
John Evans 
Roger J. Fechner 
Russell M. Fehr 
Robyn D. Fishman 
Mario Fitzpatrick-Usera 
Kevin W. Fogg 
Lee W. Formwalt 
Chad Douglas Frazier 
Grael Brian Gannon 
Evelyn Gonzalez 
Joshua S. Goode 
Richard Graham 
Edward G. Gray 
Lynne Graziano 
Ronald Richard Greenwald 
Janet Groff Greever 
Patrick Grieco 
Sara S. Gronim 
James R. Grossman 
Sheldon Hackney 
Christopher J.D. Haig 
Richard P. Hallion 
Howard Halvorsen 
Anne Hardgrove 
Victoria Harms 
William D. Harshaw 
Charles W. Hayford 
Charles D. Hendricks 
Lesli Louise Hicks 
Edward O'Neal Hightower 
Christine Holden 
David A. Hollinger 
Vernon Horn 
Eleanor K. Hubbard 
John Husmann 
Anne Hyde 

Scott Alan Ickes 
Erik Norman Jensen 
Carla Joinson 
Carol S. Jose 
Frank A. Kafker 
Kenneth F. Kasperski 
Firuz Kazemzadeh 
David H. Kelly 
Dina R. Khoury 
Janelle Kingsley 
Jeffrey D. Kovach 
Lara H. Kriegel 
Jan Ruth Lambertz 
Jane G. Landers 
John Lemza 
Alan H. Lessoff 
Terrance L. Lewis 
Mitchell Corey Lewis 
Shannon Rene Long 
Richard Lowitt 
Wesley K. Lybrand 
Richard W. Lyman 
Mike Mahoney 
Charles S. Maier 
Maeva Marcus 
Nicholas G. Marinides 
Klaus O. Mayr 
Natalie McAdams 
Robert E. McCaa 
William P.  McEvoy 
Keith McNamara 
Kristie Miller 
Louie Milojevic 
Adrian Simon Moore 
Joshua James Morris 
John M. Murrin 
William L. North 
Adrian D. O'Connor 
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Julia Cummings O'Hara 
Francis C. Oakley 
Barbara Olson 
Patricia R. Orr 
Suleiman Osman 
Kristine Y. Parsons 
Drew Patterson 
Paula Petrik 
Richard V. Pierard 
Rebecca Jo Plant 
Phyllis E. Pobst 
Mathew L. Powers 
Lori Lyn Price 
Geoffrey Ryan Ralston 
Gina Vivien Ramsay 
Peter James Rausch 
Tobias Rettig 
Elaine A. Reynolds 
Howard J. Romanek 
Mark H. Rose 
Frederick Rudolph 
James D. Ryan 
John E. Saffell 

Nicholas R. Satin 
Eric Michael Schantz 
Ellen Schrecker 
Michael Schuering 
Gregory L. Schultz 
Constance B. Schulz 
Leslie Schwartz 
Pamela Scully 
Calvin F. Senning 
Byron Scott Sergeant 
William Agan Shifflette 
Jerome Shindelman 
George H. Skau 
Robert M. Skillen 
Wilson Smith 
Douglas O. Sofer 
Muralidaran Ramesh 
Somasunderam 
Keith L. Sprunger 
Urmila Staudacher 
Bruce M. Stave 
Mike Stefanowicz 
R. Vladimir Steffel 

Gregory N. Stern 
Jeanne H. Stevenson 
Shigeru Sugiyama 
Vincent B. Thompson 
Anthony Todd Triola 
Elizabeth L. Vandepaer 
Mark Vigna 
Ilya Vinkovetsky 
Solomon Wank 
William A. Weber 
Paul B. Wehn 
Robert Wayne Wells 
Lisa Ann Wells 
Paul W. Werth 
Steven C. Wheatley 
Beth Ann Ann Williams 
Karen S. Wilson 
Martin N. Winters 
John P. Woodward 
Phyllis Bannan Woodworth 
John W. Yarbrough 
Charlton Yingling 
Edith P. Young 
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Donors to the Endowment Fund 2013 
 
Larry Donell Adams 
Ann T. Allen 
Margaret Lavinia Anderson 
Frederick J. Augustyn 
Roy A. Austensen 
Douglas C. Baynton 
John Bezis-Selfa 
Darrel E. Bigham 
Robert Blackman 
Allan G. Bogue 
Rebecca Ard Boone  
Terence J. Brennan  
Katherine Stern Brennan 
Alice Bullard  
Rand Burnette  
Jon Butler   
Jennifer Rae Camp  
Christopher Campbell  
Charles C. Carrillo  
Nadine Cascini-LaRosa  
William H. Chafe  
William R. Childs  
Clifford E. Clark  
Paul G.E. Clemens  
Anelise Suzane Fernandes 
Coelho 
Ira Cohen  
Kevin P. Coleman  
Ann Crabb  
Hamilton Cravens  
James Cusick  
Michael D'Innocenzo  
E. Randolph Daniel  
Despina O. Danos  
Belinda J. Davis  
Natalie Z. Davis  
Andrew DeMaris  
Leigh T. Denault 

Marion F. Deshmukh  
Virginio F. DeVita  
Anne R. Dewindt  
Daniel M. Dorman  
Georgette Magassy Dorn 
Michael R. Doyen 
George A. Drake 
Lisa Willow Dunne 
Gunnar Michael Durant 
Michael H. Ebner 
Rebecca B. Edwards 
Stephen F. Englehart 
William R. Everdell 
Ena L. Farley 
Edward L. Farmer 
Russell M. Fehr 
Geoffrey G. Field 
Siobhan R. Fitzpatrick 
Ian C. Fletcher 
Willard Allen Fletcher 
Kevin W. Fogg 
Charles H. Ford 
Stephen Foster 
Laura Levine Frader 
John B. Freed 
Alice L. George 
David A. Gerber 
Claire E. Gherini 
Reid Keith Gordon 
Robert J. Graham 
Monica H. Green 
Janelle Greenberg 
Ronald Richard Greenwald 
Sara S. Gronim 
Patrick Hagopian 
Christopher J.D. Haig 
Emily Orlie Hall 
Donald Hall 

Richard P. Hallion 
Martha T. Hanna 
Victoria A. Harden 
William D. Harshaw 
Sally Ann Hastings 
Charles W. Hayford 
Franz D. Hensel-Riveros 
Page Herrlinger 
Gad J. Heuman 
Lesli Louise Hicks 
Christopher Charles Hoitash 
Christine Holden 
Rose Chan Houston 
Eleanor K. Hubbard 
Rebecca C. Hughes 
Lynn A. Hunt 
John A. Hutcheson 
Scott Alan Ickes 
Konrad H. Jarausch 
Denise R. Johnson 
Norman L. Jones 
Edward J. Kealey 
Roulette Love Keevert 
William Robert Kelly 
A. Larkin Kirkman 
Susan E. Klepp 
Diane P. Koenker 
James C. Kollros 
Jeffrey D. Kovach 
Lara H. Kriegel 
Uldis Kruze 
Rebecca Kugel 
Nina J. Kushner 
Gregory Kuzbida 
Jane G. Landers 
Benjamin L. Landis 
Terrance L. Lewis 
Lance B. Lewis 
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David F. Lindenfeld 
Christopher H. Lutz 
Wesley K. Lybrand 
Mark H. Lytle 
Rajae Maboubi 
Sarah S. Malino 
Carol A. Marsh 
Margaret S. Marsh 
Klaus O. Mayr 
Natalie McAdams 
Robert E. McCaa 
Elizabeth M. McCahill 
C. Michelle McCargish 
William P. McEvoy 
Morton J. Merowitz 
Barbara Metcalf 
Maureen C. Miller 
James C. Mohr 
Regina Morantz-Sanchez 
Rebecca Sherrill More 
Victoria M. Morse 
Duane P. Myers 
David Paul Nord 
Alice M. O'Connor 
Julia Cummings O'Hara 
Kenneth O'Reilly 
Brian W. Ogilvie 
Paul A. Ortiz 
Suleiman Osman 
Robin Deich Ottoson 
Kristine Y Parsons 
Muhamed Pasha 

Steven J. Pedler 
John F. Piper 
Henry P. Porter 
Diane A. Puklin 
John M. Pyne 
Louis N. Pyster 
Jean H. Quataert 
Matthew Taylor Raffety 
Geoffrey Ryan Ralston 
Raul A. Ramos 
Gina Vivien Ramsay 
Barbara N. Ramusack 
Joseph P. Reidy 
Kevin Reilly 
Tobias Rettig 
Robert J. Reynolds 
Wilfrid J. Rollman 
Howard J. Romanek 
Mark H. Rose 
Sarah Gwyneth Ross 
John M. Rozett 
Jay C. Rubenstein 
Teofilo F. Ruiz 
Scott A. Sandage 
Ann Imlah Schneider 
Eric C. Schneider 
Michael Schuering 
Aristides Scoufelis 
Howard P. Segal 
William Agan Shifflette 
Michael J. Smuksta 
Douglas O. Sofer 

Muralidaran Ramesh 
Somasunderam 
Jennifer Speed 
Karen E. Spierling 
Lawrence Squeri 
Theodore Charles Stallone 
Urmila Staudacher 
Jeanne H. Stevenson 
Carole E. Straw 
Marcia G. Synnott 
David S. Tanenhaus 
Victoria E. Thompson 
David F. Trask 
Anthony Todd Triola 
James C. Turner 
Andres Vaart 
Peter G. Wallace 
Carl D. Weiner 
James J. Weingartner 
Robert Wayne Wells 
Steven C. Wheatley 
Benn E. Williams 
Samuel R. Williamson 
Astrid N. Witschi-Bernz 
Jason M. Wolfe 
Justin Wolfe 
Peter J. Yearwood 
Wen-hsin  Yeh 
Charlton Yingling 
Glennys Young  
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Contributing Members 2013 
 
Scott F. Abeel  
Guilherme Almeida  
Stephen Aron  
Edward L. Ayers  
Clifford R. Backman  
Philip L. Barlow  
Roby C. Barrett  
Emily S. Bingham  
Alan Brinkley  
Richard L. Camp  
Aristide D. Caratzas  
T. E. Cauthorn Esq.  
David Coles  
James E. Cracraft  
Michael D'Innocenzo  
Kenneth H. DeHoff Jr.  
Bruce Theodoric Delfini  
Marc L. Dollinger  
Michael R. Doyen  
Jeffrey A. Engel  
Steven A. Epstein  
Leon Fink  
Paul Harris Freedman  
Charles D. Gabriel  
Henry Louis Gates Jr.  
Alexander Gigante  
Kimberly Gilmore  

Anthony T. Grafton  
Douglas Greenberg  
Robert A. Gross  
Steven H. Hahn  
Christopher J.D. Haig  
James L. Hevia  
Lynn A. Hunt  
Margaret C. Jacob  
Forrest N. Johnson  
Temma Kaplan  
Stanley N. Katz  
Michael Kazin  
David M. Kennedy  
Alice Kessler-Harris  
Jeffrey D. Kovach  
Carol Scott Leonard  
Charles S. Maier  
Rachel P. Maines  
Sarah C. Maza  
Chris McNickle  
Joseph C. Miller  
Edward W. Muir Jr.  
Norman M. Naimark  
Thomas F. X. Noble  
Randall M. Packard  
Trudy H. Peterson  
Matthew Pinsker  

Kenneth L. Pomeranz  
Marcus Rediker  
Kevin Reilly  
Tracy E. Rich  
Malcolm Richardson  
Donald A. Ritchie  
Teofilo F. Ruiz  
Abby S. Rumsey  
Sharon V. Salinger  
Carole Shammas  
Brian D. Shaw  
Marci J. Sortor  
Gabrielle M. Spiegel  
Jeffrey K. Stine  
Carl Strikwerda  
Eric A. Swanson  
Nancy J. Tomes  
Robert L. Tree  
Clarence E. Walker  
Harry M. Walsh  
Ronald G. Walters  
John C. Weaver  
Barbara Weinstein  
Leland J. White  
Richard White  
Kathleen Wilson  
Charles A. Zappia 
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Jerry Bentley Prize Donors 2013 
 

Edward A. Alpers 
Muir Amie 
Alfred J. Andrea 
Joan E. Arno 
Gareth M. Austin 
Jose Alfredo Bach 
Robert B. Bain 
Rebecca J. Bates 
Victoria Bayless 
Richard K. Beatty 
Jan Becka 
Carol A. Benedict 
Craig Benjamin 
Hope Benne 
Houri Berberian 
Frank P. Biess 
Monica C. Bond-Lamberty 
Colleen Boyett 
Renate Bridenthal 
Michael Brown 
Melissa Buckner 
Steve Buenning 
Mike Burns 
Matthew Busbridge 
Kathy J. Callahan 
Christopher Campbell 
Troy Chan 
Yinghong Cheng 
Philip Chisholm 
David Gilbert Christian 
Peter A. Coclanis 
Cheryll A. Cody 
Jennifer Lynne Colburn 
Linda Jane Colley 
Tracy Colton 
Timothy C. Connell 
Harold J. Cook 

Barbara Coulter 
Judy Craig 
Martha Craine 
Ralph C. Croizier 
Kim Curran 
Kenneth R. Curtis 
Susan Daly 
Despina O. Danos 
Celine Dauverd 
Jon Thares Davidann 
June Davids 
George Joseph Dehner 
Leigh T. Denault 
Chad B. Denton 
Dema Deslaurier 
Anne R. Dewindt 
Sean Dowlatshami 
Prasenjit  Duara 
Ellen C. Dubois 
Jack R. Dukes 
Jery  Dumois 
Jennifer S. Duncan 
Ross E. Dunn 
Kimberly Ann Dyer 
Peter Dykema 
Wendy J. Eagan 
Jodi R. B. Eastberg 
William R. Everdell 
Russell M. Fehr 
Felipe Fernandez-Armesto 
Paul Fillio 
Kevin W. Fogg 
Darcie S. Fontaine 
Judy Ann Ford 
Vahid J. Fozdar 
Laura Levine Frader 
Chad Douglas Frazier 

Patricia Gardner 
Karen Sue Garvin 
Marc Jason Gilbert 
Sam Giordanengo 
Jack Andrew Goldstone 
David Goodwin 
Marlene Graef 
Regina Grafe 
Monica H. Green 
Patrick Grieco 
James R. Grossman 
Dixie Johnson Grupe 
Katrina L. Gulliver 
Kathryn Ann Hain 
Emily Orlie Hall 
Will Hanley 
Anne Hardgrove 
Robert L. Hardmond 
Maria Teresa Harris 
James Harris 
Robanne Harrison 
Charles D. Hart 
Charles W. Hayford 
Douglas E.  Haynes 
Gabrielle Hecht 
Jane Hedgecock 
Laura E. Hein 
Carmen E. Hernandez 
Lesli Louise Hicks 
Kathryn Hodgkinson 
Jessica R. Hodgson 
Dirk Hoerder 
Christine Holden 
Aiqun Hu 
Eleanor K. Hubbard 
Bram Hubbell 
Samuel A. Huckleberry 



Annual Report 2013 Page 44 
 
 

 

Dale Hueben 
Scott Alan Ickes 
Rebecca J. Jacobs-Pollez 
Gabe James 
Gerald Johnston 
Deborah Johnston 
Karen Louise Jolly 
Tony Jones 
David M. Kalivas 
Alan L. Karras 
Cecil Barden Keeler 
Christy Kessler 
Thoralf Klein 
Jeffrey D. Kovach 
Uldis Kruze 
Benjamin L. Landis 
Chris Larue 
Brigitte K. Lavey 
Chris Layson 
Angela Lee 
Carol Mon Lee 
Russell Levine 
Terrance L. Lewis 
Kevin Lewis 
David F. Lindenfeld 
Ane J. Lintvedt 
Suzanne Marie Litrel 
Wenxi Liu 
Xinru Liu 
Craig A. Lockard 
Fabio T. Lopez-Lazaro 
Angelo J. Louisa 
Maxine N. Lurie 
Sally Lyons 
Kara Macsuga 
Nicki Magie 
Andrae M. Marak 
Suzanne Lynn Marchand 
Robert B. Marks 
Michael Hughes Markus 
Manly Ernest Marshall 

Mary Jane Maxwell 
Natalie McAdams 
Robert E. McCaa 
Anne E. C. McCants 
John W. McCormack 
Ian Michael McDowell 
Frederick J. McGinness 
Don McNaughtan 
John R. McNeill 
Kyle Meidell 
Brenda Melendy 
Jonathan Clay Merritt 
Lynne J Miles-Morillo 
Charles Everett Milteer 
Laura J. Mitchell 
Andie Morgan 
Stephen R. Morillo 
Ruth Mostern 
Carol Munro 
April Louise Najjaj 
Rebecca Nedostup 
Carl H. Nightingale 
David A. Northrup 
Patrick Karl O'Brien 
Joyce O'Day 
Lorena Ortiz 
Elizabeth Osborne 
Alejandra B. Osorio 
Barbara Ozyna 
Joseph Paddenburg 
Victor Daniel Padilla 
Bob Pannozzo 
Natalie Parker-Lawrence 
Kristine Y Parsons 
Frank Passaro 
Patrick Pasture 
Jerri Patten 
Jennifer Pau 
Sue Peabody 
Elizabeth L.B. Peifer 
Peter C. Perdue 

Barbara Bennett Peterson 
Carla Rahn Phillips 
William D. Phillips 
Mary Lynn Pierce 
Kenneth L. Pomeranz 
Tammy M. Proctor 
Geoffrey Ryan Ralston 
Sherri Raney 
Marcus Rediker 
Kevin Reilly 
Elaine A. Reynolds 
Jonathan Reynolds 
Broaderick Rivers 
Donna Rogers-Beard 
Stacy Best Ruel 
Nicholas Lee Rummell 
Yotaro Sato 
Richard R. Schieffelin 
Carol Schmidt 
Lenore Schneider 
Ron Schooler 
John E. Schrecker 
Gregory L. Schultz 
David Schulz 
Christine E. Sears 
Anastasia Serghidou 
Pamela Dorn Sezgin 
Jessica Ann Sheetz-Nguyen 
William Agan Shifflette 
Adrian Shubert 
Kathy Skelton 
Christine M. Skwiot 
Richard Smith 
Charles D. Smith 
Yvette Snopkowsia 
Douglas O. Sofer 
Howard Spodek 
Deborah Standford 
Peter N. Stearns 
Mike Stefanowicz 
Emily Elaine Stewart 
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Alaa Taher 
Susan Taylor 
Igor Tchoukarine 
Pamela D. Toler 
John Torpey 
David S. Trask 
Ann O. Travis 
Anthony Todd Triola 
Stephen Daniel Tuck 
James B. Tueller 
Jim Uhrig 
John E. Van Sant 
Beth Villenez 

Erik Vincent 
Kerry R. Ward 
Emily Warner 
Rick R. Warner 
Neil L. Waters 
John C. Weaver 
Roxann Weber 
Tammy Webster 
Theodore R. Weeks 
Shuang Wen 
Sally West 
Justin Michael White 
Merry E. Wiesner-Hanks 

Karen E. Wigen 
John E. Wills 
Deborah Wing Leonard 
Renee Wiseman 
Kevin Witte 
David R. Woken 
Jason M. Wolfe 
Bin Yang 
Peter J. Yearwood 
Charlton Yingling 
Howard Young 
William R. Zeigler 
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Friedrich Katz Prize Donors 2013 
 
Paula Alonso 
Armando Cantu Alonzo 
Nancy P. Appelbaum 
Charles E. Beatty Medina 
Devyn Spence Benson 
Dain E. Borges 
Christopher R. Boyer 
Jonathan Charles Brown 
Christopher Campbell 
Elaine K. Carey 
Sarah C. Chambers 
Bridget M. Chesterton 
Margaret Chowning 
Sarah Cline 
Deborah Cohen 
Kevin P. Coleman 
Oscar De la Torre 
Robin Derby 
Laura Virginia Dierksmeier 
Zephyr L. Frank 
Beau Gaitors 
Javier Garciadiego 
Michel Gobat 
Jan E. Goldstein 
Paul E. Gootenberg 
Laura E. S. Gotkowitz 
Karen B. Graubart 
James R. Grossman 

Donna J. Guy 
Gregory S. Hammond 
Kyle Edmund Harvey 
Evelyn Hu-DeHart 
Eleanor K. Hubbard 
Scott Alan Ickes 
Gilbert M. Joseph 
Rashid I. Khalidi 
Emilio Kouri 
James M. Krippner 
Jane G. Landers 
Benjamin L. Landis 
Paul Lokken 
Claudio Lomnitz 
Mary Ann Mahony 
Samuel J. Martland 
Robert E. McCaa 
Jason Peter McGraw 
Chris McNickle 
Catherine A. Nolan-Ferrell 
Julia Cummings O'Hara 
Leslie S. Offutt 
Jocelyn H. Olcott 
Meghan Marie Peddle 
Moishe Morris Postone 
Alexandra Maria Puerto 
Cynthia Radding 
Frances L. Ramos 

Thomas D. Rogers 
Reinaldo L. Roman 
Uri Rosenheck 
Joshua M. Rosenthal 
Nichole M. Sanders 
Joshua Savala 
Eric Michael Schantz 
Patience A. Schell 
Donald G. Schilling 
Ann M. Schneider 
Rebecca J. Scott 
Tatiana Seijas 
William H. Sewell 
Douglas O. Sofer 
Antonio Sotomayor 
Steve J. Stern 
Shigeru Sugiyama 
Mauricio Tenorio 
Eric J. Van Young 
Mary Kay Vaughan 
William O. Walker 
Charles F. Walker 
Richard A. Warren 
Barbara Weinstein 
Robert H. Whealey 
David R. Woken 
Charlton Yingling 
Eric S. Zolov 
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Wesley-Logan Prize Donors 2013 
 

Qasim Abdul-Tawwab 
Larry Donell Adams 
Edward A. Alpers 
Richard Anderson 
Charles E. Beatty Medina 
Herman L. Bennett 
Kristen Block 
Lindsay Frederick Braun 
David A. Canton 
Glenn Anthony Chambers 
Diana Wise Compton 
Christian Ayne Crouch 
Jacob S. Dorman 
Kaylin T. Ewing 
Sharla M. Fett 
Juan M. Floyd-Thomas 
Patricia Gloster Coates 

Reid Keith Gordon 
Lauren Horn Griffin 
Joshua Bruce Guild 
Brian Hallstoos 
Clem L. Harris 
Lesli Louise Hicks 
Dennis Ricardo Hidalgo 
Eleanor K. Hubbard 
Scott Alan Ickes 
Jacob Jones 
Landon P. Jones 
Jacqueline Jones 
Larissa Kopytoff 
Benjamin L. Landis 
Anthony A. Lee 
Adriane D. Lentz-Smith 
Paul Lokken 

Jason Peter McGraw 
Charles Everett Milteer 
Oghenetoja H. Okoh 
Suleiman Osman 
Lara E. Putnam 
Janet Reid 
John Eric Robinson 
Tyrone Tillery 
Diane Delores Turner 
Ben Weiss 
John Thabiti C. Willis 
Brandon Kyron Winford 
David R. Woken 
Claudette Louise Woodhouse 
Charlton Yingling 
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Awards, Prizes, Fellowships, 
and Grants 
 

Awards and Prizes 

Fellowships and Grants 
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Awards and Prizes 
 
The 2013 prizes were awarded during a ceremony at the January 2014 Annual Meeting of the American 
Historical Association. 
 
Awards for Publications (Books, Articles, and Other Formats) 
 
Herbert Baxter Adams Prize 
Steven A. Barnes (George Mason Univ.), Death and Redemption: The Gulag and the Shaping of Soviet 
Society (Princeton Univ. Press) 
 
George Louis Beer Prize 
R. M. Douglas (Colgate Univ.), Orderly and Humane: The Expulsion of the Germans after the Second 
World War (Yale Univ. Press) 
 
Albert J. Beveridge Award 
W. Jeffrey Bolster (Univ. of New Hampshire), The Mortal Sea: Fishing the Atlantic in the Age of Sail 
(Belknap Press of Harvard Univ. Press) 
 
James Henry Breasted Prize 
Patricia Crone (Institute for Advanced Study), The Nativist Prophets of Early Islamic Iran: Rural Revolt 
and Local Zoroastrianism (Cambridge Univ. Press) 
 
Raymond J. Cunningham Prize 
David Wemer (Gettysburg Coll. ‘14), “Europe’s Little Tiger?: Reassessing Economic Transitions in Slovakia 
under the Mečiar Government, 1993–1998,” Gettysburg College Historical Journal 12, no. 1 (2013): 97-
112. Faculty Advisor: William Bowman 
 
John H. Dunning Prize 
Jennifer Ratner-Rosenhagen (Univ. of Wisconsin, Madison), American Nietzsche: A History of an Icon and 
His Ideas (Univ. of Chicago Press) 
 
John K. Fairbank Prize in East Asian History 
Barbara Mittler (Heidelberg Univ.), A Continuous Revolution: Making Sense of Cultural Revolution Culture 
(Harvard Univ. Asia Center of Harvard Univ. Press) 
 
Morris D. Forkosch Prize 
Jordanna Bailkin (Univ. of Washington), The Afterlife of Empire (Univ. of California Press) 
 
Leo Gershoy Award 
Daniela Bleichmar (Univ. of Southern California), Visible Empire: Botanical Expeditions and Visual Culture 
in the Hispanic Enlightenment (Univ. of Chicago Press) 
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William and Edwyna Gilbert Award 
Tim Keirn (California State Univ. Long Beach) and Eileen Luhr (California State Univ. Long Beach), 
“Subject Matter Counts: The Pre-Service Teaching and Learning of Historical Thinking,” The History 
Teacher 45, no. 4 (2012): 493–511 
 
J. Franklin Jameson Award in Editorial Achievement 
Editors and Translators: John Taylor (Univ. of Leeds); Wendy R. Childs (Univ. of Leeds); and Leslie 
Watkiss (Royal Liberty School, Romford), The St. Albans Chronicle: the Chronica maiora of Thomas 
Walsingham, Vol. II: 1394–1422 (Clarendon Press and Oxford Univ. Press) 
 
Joan Kelly Memorial Prize in Women’s History 
Carol Pal (Bennington College), Republic of Women: Rethinking the Republic of Letters in the Seventeenth 
Century (Cambridge Univ. Press) 
 
Martin A. Klein Prize in African History 
Derek R. Peterson (Univ. of Michigan), Ethnic Patriotism and the East Africa Revival: A History of Dissent, 
c. 1935–1972 (Cambridge Univ. Press) 
 
Littleton-Griswold Prize 
John Fabian Witt (Yale Univ. Law School), Lincoln’s Code: The Laws of War in American History (Free 
Press) 
 
J. Russell Major Prize 
Miranda Spieler (American Univ. of Paris), Empire and Underworld: Captivity in French Guiana (Harvard 
Univ. Press) 
 
George L. Mosse Prize 
Miranda Spieler (American Univ. of Paris), Empire and Underworld: Captivity in French Guiana (Harvard 
Univ. Press) 
 
James Rawley Prize in Atlantic History 
W. Jeffrey Bolster (Univ. of New Hampshire), The Mortal Sea: Fishing the Atlantic in the Age of Sail 
(Harvard Univ. Press) 
 
John F. Richards Prize in South Asian History 
A. Azfar Moin (Southern Methodist Univ.), The Millennial Sovereign: Sacred Kingship and Sainthood in 
Islam (Columbia Univ. Press) 
 
Roy Rosenzweig Prize for Innovation in Digital History 
“Digital Archive: International History Declassified,” www.digitalarchive.org (History and Public Policy 
Program, Woodrow Wilson Center) 
 
Wesley-Logan Prize 
Martha Biondi (Northwestern Univ.), Black Revolution on Campus (Univ. of California Press) 
  

http://www.digitalarchive.org/
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Awards for Scholarly and Professional Distinction 
 
Troyer Steele Anderson Prize 
Thomas F. Rugh (TIAA-CREF) 
 
Eugene Asher Distinguished Teaching Award 
Michael S. Green (Coll. of Southern Nevada) 
 
Awards for Scholarly Distinction 
John Dower (Mass. Institute of Technology) 
Patricia Buckley Ebrey (Univ. of Washington) 
Walter LaFeber (Cornell Univ.) 
 
Beveridge Family Teaching Award 
John Russell (Burlington City High School, Burlington, NJ) 
 
Equity Awards 
Individual: David Jackson, Jr. (Florida A&M Univ.) 
Institutional: Univ. of California, Irvine, ADVANCE Program for Equity and Diversity 
 
Herbert Feis Award 
Richard E. Turley, Jr. (The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints) 
 
Honorary Foreign Member 
Patrick Karl O’Brien, FBA (London School of Economics) 
 
Nancy Lyman Roelker Mentorship Award 
Shari Hills Conditt (Woodland High School, Woodland, WA) 
 
Theodore Roosevelt-Woodrow Wilson Award 
David M. Rubenstein (The Carlyle Group) 
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Fellowships and Grants 
 
Fellowships 
 
The AHA/Folger Shakespeare Library Fellowship 
Amy Froide, Women’s Financial Literacy in Early Modern England 
 
 
J. Franklin Jameson Fellowship in American History 
Kevin Y. Kim, Diplomacies of Dissent: Henry Wallace, Herbert Hoover, and Cold War America's Rise in the 
World 
 
 
Fellowship in Aerospace History (co-sponsored with the National Aeronautics Space Administration) 
Andrew Leslie Jenks, Stepping Back from the Brink: Transnational Encounters in Space 
 
 
Research Grants 
 
Albert J. Beveridge Grant 
Betsy Beasley, Serving the World: Energy Contracting, Logistical Labors, and the Culture of Globalization, 
1945-2008 
  
Richard Boles, Dividing the Faith: The Rise of Racially Segregated Northern Churches, 1730-1850 
  
Frederico Freitas, Twin Parks: An Environmental History of the Border between Argentina and Brazil 
  
Kate Geoghegan, The Specter of Anarchy, the Hope for Transformation: The Role of the United States in 
Influencing the Trajectory of the Soviet Collapse and Internal Reform, 1988-93 
  
James Gigantino, II, Freedom and Slavery in the Garden of America: African Americans and Abolition in 
New Jersey, 1775-1861 
  
Chris Levesque, Not Just Following Orders: Why Soldiers Refused to Commit Atrocities 
  
Eric Rutkow, The Infrastructure of Empire: Pan-Americanism, Transnational Transport, and the Remaking 
of Central America 
  
Brianna Theobald, 'The Simplest Rules of Motherhood': Settler Colonialism and the Regulation of 
American Indian Reproduction, 1910-1976 
 
 
Michael Kraus Research Grant 
Katherine Grandjean, Post Haste: Letters, Posting, and Empire in Early English America 
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Matthew Kruer, The Susquehannock War: Native Americans, Bacon's Rebellion, and the Forging of the 
Covenant Chain 
 
 
Littleton-Griswold Grant 
Sara Damiano, Gender, Law, and the Culture of Credit in New England, 1730-1790 
  
Moira Gillis, The Evolution of the Colonial American Corporation under the Stuart and Hanoverian 
Crowns, 1606-1763 
  
Ryan Johnson, Enemies of the State: Knowing, Producing, and Policing Anarchism in the Making of the 
Modern American National Security State, 1901-21 
  
Heather Lee, The Right to Enter: Chinese Restaurant Owners, U.S. Immigration Laws, and the Federal 
Courts, 1894-1945 
  
Michael Schoeppner, The Moral Contagion of Liberty: Black Atlantic Sailors, Citizenship, and Quarantine 
in the Antebellum United States 
 
 
Bernadotte Schmitt Grant 
Jeffrey Ahlman, Living with Nkrumahism: Nation, State, and Pan-Africanism in Ghana 
  
Laura Beers, Red Ellen: Socialist, Feminist, Internationalist 
  
Alexander Bevilacqua, Islamic Culture in the European Enlightenment 
  
Jessica Clark, Imperial Beauty: The Global Trade in Appearance, 1830-1930 
  
Surekha Davies, Mapping the Peoples of the New World: Ethnography, Imagery, and Knowledge in Early 
Modern Europe 
  
Erin Hochman, Anschluss before Hitler: The Politics of Transborder Nationalism in Germany and Austria, 
1918-38 
  
Peter Lavelle, Environmental Histories of Qing Colonialism in the Late 19th Century 
  
Miriam Kingsberg, Japan's Midwar Generation: Anthropologists and National Identity in the 20th Century 
  
Cian McMahon, The Coffin Ship: Irish Migration, Mortality, and Memory in Global Perspective 
  
Jacqueline-Bethel Mougoue, When Women Wear Slacks: Fashion, Beauty and Gendered Nation-Building 
in West Cameroon, 1960-82 
  
Alison Okuda, Caribbean and African Exchanges: The Post-Colonial Transformation of Ghanaian Music, 
Identity, and Social Structure 
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Amit Prakash, Empire on the Seine: Surveillance, Space, and North African Migrants in Paris, 1925-75 
  
Gregory Rosenthal, Hawaiians Who Left Hawaii: Work, Body, and Environment in the Pacific World, 
1786-1876 
  
Charlotte Walker-Said, The African Roman Catholic Clergy's Nationalist Articulations for Marriage, chap. 
5 of Traditional Marriage for the Modern Nation 
  
Arbella Bet-Shlimon, Kirkuk under Ba'th Rule: Arabization, Centralization, and the Decline of the 'City of 
Black Gold,' 1968-2003 
  
Mari Webel, The Politics of Sleeping Sickness Prevention in East Africa, 1900-14 
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AHA Council Decisions and Actions 
January 2013 

At the meeting of the Council of the American Historical Association, held January 3 and 6, 2013, in New 
Orleans, LA, the Council made the following decisions: 

• Approved a slate of nominations from the Committee on Committees, which includes appointments to 
the various prize and other committees. 
 

• Approved an application for affiliation from the Society of Civil War Historians. 
 
• Asked the incoming president to appoint an ad hoc committee to develop recommendations on ways 

AHA can and should address the educational implications of the growing use of adjunct and part-time 
faculty.  

 
• Approved the report of the Executive Director. 
 
• Approved the annual audit for the 2011–12 fiscal year. 
 
• Adopted a mission statement for the new investment subcommittee of the AHA’s Finance Committee. 
 
• Approved a six-month extension for the LGBTQ Historians Task Force to complete its work. 
 

February - May 2013 

Through email conversation, from February 20-May 15, 2013, the Council of the American Historical 
Association made the following decisions: 

• Approved an AHA amicus brief for submission to the Supreme Court case U.S. v. Windsor, a case 
contesting the validity of the Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA).  (note: this vote followed an extended 
discussion of the issue, and preliminary approval, at the January 2013 Council meeting). 
 

• Appointed William Thomas of the University of Nebraska-Lincoln to serve a three-year term as the 
AHA delegate to the National Historical Publications and Records Commission.  

 
• Approved a statement opposing a proposed Congressional amendment restricting National Science 

Foundation funding for research in political science.  
 

• Approved supplemental appointments of AHA members to serve on prize and grant committees: 
David Nirenberg, University of Chicago (Adams Book Prize); Lora Wildenthal, Rice University (Beer 
Book Prize); Cornelia Dayton, University of Connecticut (Beveridge Book Prize);  Richard Kagan, Johns 
Hopkins University (Gershoy Book Prize); Lisa Wolverton, University of Oregon (Jameson Book Prize); 
Philippa Levine, University of Texas at Austin (Kelly Book Prize); Walter Rucker, University of North 
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Carolina, Chapel Hill (Wesley-Logan Prize); Thomas M. Heaney, Feather River College (Roelker 
Mentorship Award); and Michael A. Osborne, Oregon State (Schmitt Research Grant). 
 

• Approved a letter to Secretary of State John Kerry in support of granting entry visas to Cuban scholars 
invited to attend the Latin American Studies Association conference on May 29-June 1, 2013 in 
Washington, DC. 
 

• Endorsed a letter prepared the American Anthropological Association, which provides guidance to 
funding agencies as they develop open access plans for peer-reviewed publications.   
 

• Endorsed a letter prepared by the History of Science Society expressing concern about the request of 
Rep. Lamar Smith, Chair of the House Committee on Science, Space, and Technology, to examine peer 
review reports of National Science Foundation grants.  

 

June 2013 

At the mid-year meeting of the Council of the American Historical Association, held June 1-2, 2013, in 
Washington, DC, the Council made the following decisions: 

• Approved the appointment of Michael Les Benedict, Ohio State University, to serve as AHA 
parliamentarian for a three-year term. 

• Approved the selection of members for the 2015 Program Committee: Kathryn Burns, University of 
North Carolina at Chapel Hill; Alexander Byrd, Rice University; Bryna Goodman, University of 
Oregon; Florence C. Hsia, University of Wisconsin–Madison; Lisa Leff, American University; Susan 
Weber Maurer, Nassau Community College; Nancy McTygue, Center for History in the Schools, 
Sacramento; Richard Rabinowitz, American History Workshop; Omnia El Shakry, University of 
California, Davis; William G. Thomas III, University of Nebraska–Lincoln. Note: Derek Peterson, 
University of Michigan-Ann Arbor, was approved as the final member of the 2015 Program 
Committee via Council Listserv on June 10, 2013. 

• Approved the appointment of Andrew W. Robertson, CUNY Graduate Center, and Valerie Paley, 
New-York Historical Society, to serve as the 2015 Local Arrangements Committee co-chairs.  

• Approved the selection of the 2013 Awards for Scholarly Distinction (to be announced later this 
summer). 

• Approved a revision to Bylaws Article IV (3.3.c.i), pursuant to the Constitution Article IV, Section 6, 
outlining that an executive director search committee consist of the past president (chair), a current 
member of Council, a member of the Association resident in the Washington, DC, area, and up to 
two additional members selected at the discretion of the Council president and with the approval of 
the executive committee. 
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• Approved revisions to Bylaws Article IV, Sections 3 and 6, establishing that the Controller will be 
appointed by the Executive Director subject to approval by the Council, and will report to the 
Executive Director. 

• Approved a revision to Bylaws Article VIII (10.2), pursuant to the Constitution Article VIII, Section 2, 
outlining that Council shall appoint to the Finance Committee at least two individuals with financial 
expertise. 

• Approved revision to Bylaws Article IX (12.3-7), pursuant to the Constitution Article IX, Sections 1-3, 
eliminating the clause requiring Nominating Committee supervision of election ballots, and moving 
up the schedule of elections so that nominations must be received by May 15, and ballots must be 
returned by July 15. 

• Approved the renewal of the External Agency Agreement with Indiana University for hosting the 
offices of the American Historical Review. 

• Approved a statement of responsibilities and expectations of the Investment Subcommittee. 

• Approved the AHA’s budget for the 2013-14 fiscal year. 

• Proposed changes to the AHA’s Annual Meeting Guidelines to allow for the Local Arrangements 
Committee to arrange up to five sessions at the Annual Meeting. 

• Approved a change to the AHA’s Prize Policy stating that prizes will be announced at the Annual 
Meeting and removing specific information about timing of these announcements during the 
Meeting. 

• Accepted the recommendation by the Research Division encouraging the Program Committee to 
promote creative session formats at the Annual Meeting. 

• Approved a change to the AHA’s Prize Policy removing the limitation that “No prize should be 
established by a living person to bear his or her own name during his or her lifetime."  

• Approved a change in the appointment terms of the Marraro Prize Committee members from four 
to three years. 

• Approved the acceptance of a bequest of $40,000 from Dorothy Rosenberg Passer to establish the 
Dorothy Rosenberg Prize for the History of the Jewish Diaspora and the initiation of a fundraising 
drive to supplement this bequest. 

• Approved a clarification in the description of the J. Franklin Jameson Award for outstanding 
achievement in the editing of historical primary sources. 

• Approved a clarification in the description of the Littleton-Griswold Prize in U.S. law and society, 
broadly defined. 
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• Approved the selection for the 2013 Troyer Steele Anderson Prize for contributions to the 
advancement of the purposes of the Association (to be announced this summer). 

• Approved a modification to the American Association of University Professors (AAUP) Censure 
Notice attached to individual ads placed on the AHA job site to read “The administration of this 
institution is on the AAUP censure list.” 

• Endorsed a letter from the Association for Slavic, Eastern European, and Eurasian Studies to Sergey I. 
Kislyak, Ambassador of the Russian Federation to the United States, raising concerns about a new 
Russian law requiring nongovernmental organizations to register as “foreign agents” if they receive 
money from foreign sources and are found to be engaging in “political activity.” 

• Approved a statement declaring that the American Historical Association will not accept an Author 
Processing Charge in its journal publications. 

• Approved an increase in the size of the American Historical Review Board of Editors from twelve to 
thirteen. 

• Approved the appointment of new members to the American Historical Review Board of Editors:  
Herman Bennett, CUNY (Theory and Methods); Belinda Davis, Rutgers (Modern Europe, Central);  
Jan Plamper, University of London, Goldsmiths College (Eastern Europe and Russia); Prasannan 
Parthasarthi, Boston College (South Asia); and Judith Tucker, Georgetown (Middle East). 

 

June - December 2013 
Through email conversation, from June 5-Dec 15, 2013, the Council of the American Historical 
Association made the following decisions: 

• Approved the nomination of Derek Peterson, University of Michigan-Ann Arbor, to serve as the final 
member of the 2015 Program Committee.  

• Approved a statement encouraging universities to adopt a policy that permits recipients of the PhD 
to choose whether their completed dissertations should be immediately available for free download 
or be embargoed in digital form for a period of up to six years. This recommendation includes a 
provision that all dissertations should be available in some format. 

• Issued a statement supporting the right of historians to select course assignments as an aspect of 
academic freedom, in response to the release of a series of 2010 e-mails from former Indiana 
governor Mitch Daniels, in which Daniels denounced the use of Howard Zinn’s textbook in courses 
used to train precollegiate teachers. 

• Approved the January 2013 Council Meeting Minutes. 
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• Approved the nomination of Patrick K. O’Brien, Centennial Professor of Economic History, 
London School of Economics, as the 2013 Honorary Foreign Member. 

• Approved the nomination of David Rubenstein, Founder, Carlyle Group, as the recipient of the 
2013 Roosevelt–Wilson Award. 

• Adopted a resolution electing not to become subject to the District of Columbia Nonprofit 
Corporation Act of 2010 (the “New Act”), to be filed with the District of Columbia Department of 
Consumer and Regulatory Affairs prior to January 1, 2014. 
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1015 18th Street, NW, Suite 1101 

WASHINGTON, D.C.  20036 

202-223-5001 VOICE 

202-403-3888  FAX 
EMAIL@MCMASTERCPA.COM 

The Council of 
American Historical Association 
Washington, DC  
 

Independent Auditors’ Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the American Historical 
Association as of June 30, 2013 and 2012 and the related statements of activities and cash flows 
for the years then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Association’s 
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the American Historical Association as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, and 
its changes in net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Our audits were made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of 
the American Historical Association taken as a whole.  The accompanying supplemental 
statements of expenses by program, and net assets by classification for the years ended June 30, 
2013 and 2012 and the schedule of general operations for the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 
2010 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic 
financial statements.  The information for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and, in 
our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole. 
 

 
 

December 16, 2013 
Washington, DC 
 



2013 2012 2013 2012

Current assets: Current liabilities:

Cash and equivalents 329,003$       540,597$       Accounts payable 38,943$         88,296$         

Accounts receivable -                     144,461         Accrued expenses 162,805         226,454         

Grants and pledges receivable 4,467             6,100             Deferred revenue:

Interest and dividends receivable 17,496           23,230           Memberships 688,837         649,649         

Inventory 146,377         152,259         Subscriptions 10,314           10,798           

Prepaid expenses 159,018         114,459         Annual meeting -                     42,400           

Life memberships 69,009           72,825           

Total current assets 656,361         981,106         

Total current liabilities 969,908         1,090,422      

Fixed assets:

Land 8,000             8,000             Deferred royalty income 1,346,264      1,737,500      

Building and improvements 581,823         570,065         

Furniture and equipment 430,289         851,920         Total liabilities 2,316,172      2,827,922      

1,020,112      1,429,985      

Less: accumulated depreciation (655,071)        (985,597)        Net assets:

Unrestricted:

Net fixed assets 365,041         444,388         Undesignated 1,374,975      1,498,155      

Designated 1,879,665      1,657,989      

Other assets Total unrestricted 3,254,640      3,156,144      

Investments - long term 6,622,255      6,610,997      Temporarily restricted 1,592,190      1,571,770      

Deposits 715                715                Permanently restricted 481,370         481,370         

Total other assets 6,622,970      6,611,712      Total net assets 5,328,200      5,209,284      

Total assets 7,644,372$    8,037,206$    Total liabilities and net assets 7,644,372$    8,037,206$    

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30, 2013 and 2012

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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Temporarily Permanently Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

REVENUE AND SUPPORT

Membership dues 1,089,527$    -$                  -$                  1,089,527$    1,088,216$    -$                  -$                  1,088,216$    

Annual conference 973,953         -                    -                    973,953         948,491         -                    -                    948,491         

American Historical Review 558,094         -                    -                    558,094         560,000         -                    -                    560,000         

Publications 545,829         -                    -                    545,829         537,891         -                    -                    537,891         

Program service fees 50,000           -                    -                    50,000           72,767           -                    -                    72,767           

Grants and contributions 36,506           310,998         -                    347,504         38,017           945,753         -                    983,770         

Interest and dividends 124,156         50,104           -                    174,260         91,757           57,468           -                    149,225         

Realized gains and losses on investments 26,367           10,639           -                    37,006           202,189         126,623         -                    328,812         

Unrealized losses  on investments 121,291         48,941           -                    170,232         (187,909)       (117,685)       -                    (305,594)       

Net assets released from restriction 400,262         (400,262)       -                    -                    267,665         (267,665)       -                    -                    

Total revenue and support 3,925,985      20,420           -                    3,946,405      3,619,084      744,494         -                    4,363,578      

EXPENSES

Programs:

American Historical Review 622,209         -                    -                    622,209         564,216         -                    -                    564,216         

20122013

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

American Historical Review 622,209         -                    -                    622,209         564,216         -                    -                    564,216         

Annual Meeting 727,213         -                    -                    727,213         750,073         -                    -                    750,073         

Membership 358,768         -                    -                    358,768         325,644         -                    -                    325,644         

Publications 855,773         -                    -                    855,773         810,087         -                    -                    810,087         

Grants and programs 433,541         -                    -                    433,541         365,520         -                    -                    365,520         

Special Funds and Prizes 56,346           -                    -                    56,346           59,469           -                    -                    59,469           

Total programs 3,053,850      -                    -                    3,053,850      2,875,009      -                    -                    2,875,009      
Support services:

General and Administrative 293,686         -                    -                    293,686         208,891         -                    -                    208,891         

Council 479,953         -                    -                    479,953         469,117         -                    -                    469,117         

Total support services 773,639         -                    -                    773,639         678,008         -                    -                    678,008         

Total expenses 3,827,489      -                    -                    3,827,489      3,553,017      -                    -                    3,553,017      

Change in net assets 98,496           20,420           -                    118,916         66,067           744,494         -                    810,561         

Net assets, beginning of year 3,156,144      1,571,770      481,370         5,209,284      3,090,077      827,276         481,370         4,398,723      

Net assets, end of year 3,254,640$    1,592,190$    481,370$       5,328,200$    3,156,144$    1,571,770$    481,370$       5,209,284$    

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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2013 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:

Change in net assets: 118,916$       810,561$       

Adjustments to reconcile change in

net assets to net cash provided

by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 99,064           102,895         

Unrealized (gain) on investments (170,232)        305,594         

Accounts receivable 144,461         34,722           

Grants and pledges receivable 1,633             12,200           

Interest and dividends receivable 5,734             (12,100)          

Inventory 5,882             6,091             

Prepaid expenses (44,559)          (30,363)          

Accounts payable (49,353)          3,546             

Accrued expenses (63,649)          52,822           

Deferred revenue (398,748)        1,798,735      

Total adjustments (469,767)        2,274,142      

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (350,851)        3,084,703      

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investments (1,573,197)     (5,896,346)     

Sale of investments 1,732,171      3,078,230      

Purchase of fixed assets (19,717)          (30,340)          

Net cash provided by investing activities 139,257         (2,848,456)     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents (211,594)        236,247         

Cash and equivalents, beginning of year 540,597         304,350         

Cash and equivalents, end of year 329,003$       540,597$       

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for income taxes 250$              250$              

Cash paid for interest -$                   -$                   

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.

3



AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

June 30, 2013 and 2012 
 

4 

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE ORGANIZATION 
 

The American Historical Association (the Association) is a District of Columbia 
non-stock corporation founded in 1884 and incorporated by Congress in 1889 for 
the promotion of historical studies, the collection and preservation of historical 
manuscripts, and the dissemination of historical research. 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  

Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Accordingly, 
revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when 
incurred. 
 

 
Cash and Equivalents 
 
The Association considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an 
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.   
 
Pledges Receivable 
 
Pledges receivable represents amounts which have been promised but not yet 
received.  Pledges beyond one year are discounted to reflect the present value of 
the pledge. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments are recorded at market value.  Realized and unrealized gains and 
losses on investments are reported on the statement of activities as they occur. 
 
Inventory 
 
Inventory consists of publications and is stated at the lower of cost or market, 
based on the FIFO (first-in, first-out) method of accounting.   
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Fixed Assets 
 
Furniture and equipment are reported at cost.  Assets and capital lease purchases 
are depreciated over a three to five year estimated life using the straight line 
method.  Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 was 
$99,064 and $102,895, respectively. 
 
Accounts Receivable  
 
Accounts receivable is recorded net of an allowance for uncollectible receivables, 
based on management’s evaluation of outstanding accounts receivable at year 
end.  The allowance for uncollectible receivables was $0 and $31,748 for the years 
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 
 

 Deferred Revenue   
 
The Association records income for membership dues, subscriptions, registration 
fees and publication advertising which have been paid in advance as deferred 
revenue. 
 

 Endowment Funds 
 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board issues Staff Position No. FAS 117-1, 
Endowments of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject 
to and Enacted Version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
(UPMIFA) and Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment Funds (the FSP).  The FSP 
provides guidance on the net asset classification of donor restricted endowment 
funds for a not-for-profit organization that is subject to an enacted version of the 
Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006.  The FSP also 
improves disclosures about an organization's endowment funds (both donor 
restricted endowment funds and board designated endowment funds) whether 
or not the organization is subject to UPMIFA. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Net Assets 
 
Net assets are reported by the Association in accordance with Financial 
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 116 and 117.  Accordingly, net assets have 
been reported using the following categories. 
 

Unrestricted 
 
Unrestricted net assets represent resources over which the Council has 
discretionary control and are used to carry out operations of the 
Association in accordance with their bylaws.   
 
The Council’s designated fund, included as part of the unrestricted net 
assets, was established to accumulate a reserve for the Association.  
 

 Temporarily Restricted 
 
Temporarily restricted net assets represent contributions and grants, 
which have been restricted by donors for specific programs or activities.  
Restrictions, which have been met by the passage of time or expenditure 
of net assets, are reported as revenues released from restrictions on the 
statement of activities.  For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the 
Association received $310,998 and $945,753 in temporarily restricted 
contributions and grants, respectively. 

 
Permanently Restricted Funds 
 
Permanently restricted net assets represent contributions which have been 
restricted by donors indefinitely.  Investment income generated from the 
principal of the permanently restricted net assets is used to fulfill 
programs and the general operations of the Association.  For the years 
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 the Association did not receive any 
permanently restricted contributions.  The balance of the permanently 
restricted funds was $481,370 and $481,370 for the years ended June 30, 
2013 and 2012, respectively.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Gifts and bequests of property  
 
 Gifts and bequests of property are recorded at the earlier of the date received or 

when the bequest is no longer subject to probate and its value can be reasonably 
estimated.  Gifts and bequests are valued at their estimated fair market value on the 
date they are recorded. 

 
Donated Services and Materials 
 
Contributions of services are recognized if the services received create or 
enhance nonfinancial assets or require specialized skills, and are provided by 
individuals possessing those skills and would typically need to be purchased if 
not provided by donation.  Contributed services and promises to give services 
that do not meet the above criteria are not recognized. During 2013 and 2012, the 
Association did not receive any donated materials or services. 
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Association is a nonprofit organization, which is exempt from federal 
income taxes under the provision of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code.  However, the Association is subject to unrelated business income tax for 
activities conducted outside its tax exempt purpose.  The Association conducted 
unrelated business activities that resulted in net operating losses during 2013 and 
2012, respectively accordingly no provision for income taxes was recorded. 

 
Functional Allocation of Expenses 
 
The costs of providing the various programs and other activities have been 
summarized on a functional basis in the Statement of Activities.  Accordingly, 
certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services 
benefited. 
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3. INVESTMENTS 

 
The value of investments was as follows:   
 

              June 30, 2013               June 30, 2012 
        Cost          Market         Cost          Market     
 U.S. Treasury notes  
   and bonds $  1,093,904 $  1,082,415  $  1,545,753 $  1,560,804 
 Equity mutual funds 2,003,455 3,027,148 1,831,524 2,500,488 
 Corporate & foreign 
   Bonds 739,778 726,552 1,002,175 996,320 
 Fixed income 
   mutual funds    1,779,820    1,786,140    1,511,463    1,553,385  
     Total $ 5,616,957 $ 6,6,22,255 $ 5,890,915 $ 6,610,997 

 
The market value of stocks is estimated based on quoted market prices for those 
investments.  None of the investments are held for trading purposes. 

 
4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

 
FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value.  That framework provides a fair value hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable 
inputs (Level 3 measurements).  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under 
FASB Statement No. 157 are described as follows: 
 
Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 

identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Foundation has the 
ability to access. 

Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include 

• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 

markets; 

• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or 
liability; 

• Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 
market data by correlation or other means.  If the asset or liability has a 
specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 
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4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the 

fair value measurement. 

 
The assets or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value 
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement.  Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize and the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodology used for assets 
measured at fair value.  There have been no changes in the methodologies used 
at June 30, 2013. 
 

Mutual funds:  Valued at the net asset value (NAV) of shares at year end. 
Cash and equivalents:  Valued at cost. 
Equity Securities:  Valued at the closing price reported on the active market on 

which the individual securities are traded.   
 

The preceding method described may produce a fair value calculation that may 
not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values.  
Furthermore, although the Association believes its valuation methods are 
appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different 
methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial 
instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting 
date.   

 
The following sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the 
Association’s assets at fair value as of June 30, 2013: 
 
  Fair Value   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  

 Treasury notes and 
     bonds $       1,082,415      $      1,082,415     $                        -      $                      - 
 Equity mutual funds 3,027,148  3,027,148 - - 
 Corporate & foreign  
    Bonds 726,552 726,552 - - 
 Mutual funds          1,786,140          1,786,140                         -                         - 
    Total $       6,622,255 $       6,622,255 $                      - $                      - 
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5. ENDOWMENT AND BOARD-DESIGNATED FUNDS 
 

The Association endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds 
and funds designated by the Council to function as endowments/board-
designated funds.  As required by GAAP, net assets associated with endowment 
funds, including funds designated by the Council to function as endowments, 
are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor imposed 
restrictions.   
 
Interpretation of Relevant Law 
 
Based on its interpretation of the provisions of UPMIFA and the FSP described in 
Note 1, the Association feels that retaining its existing policies regarding net asset 
classification of its donor restricted endowment funds is appropriate.  
Distribution of any gift, bequest or fund is governed by the Association’s 
governing documents and donor agreements.  Thirty-nine percent of the 
Association endowment funds make available the use of principal which are able 
to be utilized for the intended purpose of the fund.  As a result of the ability to 
distribute corpus, the Association has determined that these donor restricted 
contributions received subject to the governing documents and subject to 
UPMIFA are classified as temporarily restricted until appropriated, at which  
time the appropriation is reclassified to unrestricted net assets.  Board designated 
endowments do not possess external spending restrictions and therefore are 
classified as unrestricted net assets.   Endowment funds that require the corpus 
remain restricted in perpetuity represent eight percent of the Association’s 
endowment funds are classified as permanently restricted.   

 
 Funds with Deficiencies 
 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with an individual donor-
restricted endowment fund may fall below the level that the donor or UPMIFA 
requires the Association to retain as a fund of perpetual duration.  There were no 
deficiencies as of June 30, 2013. 
 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 
 
The Association has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment 
and board-designated assets that attempt to provide a predictable stream of 
funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to maintain the  
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5. ENDOWMENT AND BOARD-DESIGNATED FUNDS (Continued) 
 
purchasing power of the endowment assets.  Endowment assets included those 
assets of donor-restricted funds that the Association must hold until 
appropriated as well as board-designated funds.  Under this policy, as approved 
by the Council, the board-designated assets are invested in funds with a primary 
objective of safety and liquidity.  The objective of the restricted assets is to 
maintain the real purchasing power in order to support the Association’s 
programs, initiatives and operations. 
 
Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 
 
To satisfy its long-term, rate-of-return objectives, the Association relies on a total 
return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital 
appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends).  
As a result, the Association has elected to adopt a well-diversified asset 
allocation consisting of equity and fixed income securities.  The Association’s 
current asset allocation for endowment funds targets a composition of between 
40 to 80 percent in equities and 20 to 60 percent in fixed income funds. 
 
Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending 
Policy 
 
Expenditures from the board-designated net assets are released as approved by 
the Association’s Council.  The earnings on the temporarily restricted 
net assets are reinvested.  Temporarily restricted net assets are released from 
restricted funds and are used in accordance with donor stipulations. 
 
The changes in endowment net assets for the year ended June 30, 2013 are 
detailed for income, expenses, investment earnings, investment expenses and 
transfers on the supplemental statement of net assets by classification. 

 
6. COMMITMENTS 
 

The Association has entered into agreements for rental of space for the annual 
meeting.  The Association is required to pay a portion of the anticipated room 
revenues in the event that the conference is canceled.  Cancellation insurance has 
been obtained by the Association to offset any potential future losses.  The 
Association anticipates that all minimum room rental requirements will be met. 
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7. RETIREMENT PLAN 

 
The Association maintains a qualifying defined contribution retirement plan for 
qualifying full-time employees under Internal Revenue Code Section 403(b).  The 
Association contributes up to a maximum of 10 percent of the employee’s total 
annual compensation to the plan each year.  The contributions are fully vested 
and nonforfeitable.  For the years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, contributions to 
the plan were $98,015 and $95,159, respectively.  There were no contributions 
due to the plan at June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. 

 

 

8. CONCENTRATION OF RISK  

 
The Association maintains cash balances in a financial institution which is insured 
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation for amounts up to $250,000.  The 
Association is exposed to concentrations of credit risk at times when cash balances 
exceed the FDIC limit.  The Association has not experienced any losses and believes 
they are not exposed to significant risk. 

 
9. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
The Association’s management has evaluated events and transactions for 
potential recognition or disclosure through December 16, 2013, the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.  There were no subsequent 
events that require recognition of, or disclosure in, these financial statements. 
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American Total

Historical Annual Grants Special Funds Total General and Support

Review Meeting Membership Publications and Programs and Prizes Programs Administrative Council Services Total

Salaries and fringe benefits 19,155$        220,813$       200,346$       401,629$       86,487$        2,647$          931,077$       389,109$        320,827$        709,936$        1,641,013$      

Bank fees and service charges -                    36,116          36,969          11,375          -                    -                    84,460          23,585            239                 23,824            108,284          

Communications -                    -                    -                    -                    9,875            -                    9,875            77,606            -                      77,606            87,481            

Contractors 420,036        124,703        2,550            6,860            5,040            -                    559,189        70,834            -                      70,834            630,023          

Contributions and coalition -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    108,855          -                      108,855          108,855          

Depreciation -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    99,064            -                      99,064            99,064            

Dues and subscriptions -                    -                    552               -                    -                    -                    552               11,010            -                      11,010            11,562            

Equipment rental and maintenance -                    2,065            -                    -                    -                    -                    2,065            43,126            -                      43,126            45,191            

Insurance 3,004            3,413            -                    -                    -                    -                    6,417            10,262            -                      10,262            16,679            

Meetings and conferences 2,163            79,944          -                    -                    81,162          23                 163,292        -                      27,328            27,328            190,620          

Miscellaneous -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    5,191              -                      5,191              5,191              

Office expense 16,074          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    16,074          30,202            -                      30,202            46,276            

Postage and delivery 4,902            21,374          20,868          65,485          -                    -                    112,629        9,928              448                 10,376            123,005          

Printing and duplicating 118               40,962          19,532          177,356        -                    -                    237,968        2,471              -                      2,471              240,439          

Prizes, grants and honorariums -                    1,300            -                    -                    93,308          41,483          136,091        -                      -                      -                      136,091          

Professional fees -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    87,870            -                      87,870            87,870            

Repairs and maintenance -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    32,689            -                      32,689            32,689            

Storage -                    -                    129               7,420            -                    -                    7,549            8,155              -                      8,155              15,704            

Supplies -                    -                    -                    -                    249               -                    249               11,470            5,636              17,106            17,355            

Taxes, licenses and permits -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    941                 -                      941                 941                 

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF EXPENSES BY PROGRAM

For the year ended June 30, 2013

Programs Support Services

Taxes, licenses and permits -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    941                 -                      941                 941                 

Travel 21,789          38,759          -                    -                    63,377          -                    123,925        24,699            21,360            46,059            169,984          

Utilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    13,172            -                      13,172            13,172            

Total expense, before 

overhead allocation 487,241        569,449        280,946        670,125        339,498        44,153          2,391,412      1,060,239       375,838          1,436,077       3,827,489       

Overhead allocation 134,968        157,764        77,822          185,648        94,043          12,193          662,438        (766,553)         104,115          (662,438)         -                      

Total expense 622,209$       727,213$       358,768$       855,773$       433,541$       56,346$        3,053,850$    293,686$        479,953$        773,639$        3,827,489$      

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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American Total

Historical Annual Grants Special Funds Total General and Support

Review Meeting Membership Publications and Programs and Prizes Programs Administrative Council Services Total

Salaries and fringe benefits 19,346$        210,530$       172,278$       402,884$       92,873$        -$                  897,911$       342,618$        305,025$        647,643$        1,545,554$      

Bank fees and service charges -                    20,835          40,589          29,509          -                    -                    90,933          70                   -                      70                   91,003            

Communications -                    2,085            -                    -                    -                    -                    2,085            54,551            -                      54,551            56,636            

Contractors 394,384        109,626        -                    -                    5,400            -                    509,410        37,980            9,661              47,641            557,051          

Contributions and coalition -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    109,565          10,000            119,565          119,565          

Depreciation -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    102,895          -                      102,895          102,895          

Dues and subscriptions -                    152               1,690            10,659          1,504            -                    14,005          5,100              -                      5,100              19,105            

Equipment rental and maintenance 1,024            4,667            -                    -                    -                    -                    5,691            28,507            -                      28,507            34,198            

Insurance 601               4,655            -                    -                    -                    -                    5,256            14,187            -                      14,187            19,443            

Meetings and conferences 2,422            150,239        -                    -                    15,400          -                    168,061        -                      22,409            22,409            190,470          

Miscellaneous 29                 2,296            -                    -                    -                    35                 2,360            3,218              256                 3,474              5,834              

Office expense 6,539            -                    -                    285               28,157          -                    34,981          10,289            -                      10,289            45,270            

Postage and delivery 7,651            13,276          20,092          55,271          1,000            -                    97,290          3,419              -                      3,419              100,709          

Printing and duplicating -                    44,642          27,397          145,053        2,000            -                    219,092        226                 -                      226                 219,318          

Prizes, grants and honorariums -                    -                    -                    -                    70,988          47,450          118,438        -                      -                      -                      118,438          

Professional fees -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    55,106            -                      55,106            55,106            

Repairs and maintenance -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    38,667            -                      38,667            38,667            

Storage -                    -                    -                    8,293            -                    -                    8,293            7,703              -                      7,703              15,996            

Supplies 4,897            -                    -                    -                    351               -                    5,248            1,891              -                      1,891              7,139              

Taxes, licenses and permits -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    10,281            -                      10,281            10,281            

Travel 17,190          40,657          -                    -                    76,493          350               134,690        19,830            30,161            49,991            184,681          

Utilities -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    15,658            -                      15,658            15,658            

Total expense, before 

overhead allocation 454,083        603,660        262,046        651,954        294,166        47,835          2,313,744      861,761          377,512          1,239,273       3,553,017       

Overhead allocation 110,133        146,413        63,598          158,133        71,354          11,634          561,265        (652,870)         91,605            (561,265)         -                      

Total expense 564,216$       750,073$       325,644$       810,087$       365,520$       59,469$        2,875,009$    208,891$        469,117$        678,008$        3,553,017$      

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF EXPENSES BY PROGRAM

For the year ended June 30, 2012

Programs Support Services

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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Investment 

Income, Realized

Permanently Temporarily Total Gains, and Investment Permanently Temporarily Total

Restricted Restricted Designated Undesignated Unrestricted Total Income Expense Unrealized Losses Fees Transfers Restricted Restricted Designated Undesignated Unrestricted Total

Specific Use Funds:

Prize Funds

Herbert Baxter Adams Prize Fund 5,000$           21,624$         -$                   -$                   -$                   26,624$         -$                   (500)$             2,096$             (128)$             -$                   5,000$           23,092$         -$                   -$                   -$                   28,092$         
Martin A. Klein Prize Fund -                     70,692           -                     -                     -                     70,692           -                     (1,000)            5,553               (339)               -                     -                     74,906           -                     -                     -                     74,906           
John E. Richards Prize Fund -                     57,764           -                     -                     -                     57,764           -                     (1,000)            4,524               (276)               -                     -                     61,012           -                     -                     -                     61,012           
Ancient History Prize Fund - 

James H. Breasted Fund 10,800           4,063             -                     -                     -                     14,863           10,000           (500)               1,949               (119)               -                     10,800           15,393           -                     -                     -                     26,193           
George Louis Beer Prize Fund 5,000             72,579           -                     -                     -                     77,579           -                     (1,000)            6,105               (373)               -                     5,000             77,311           -                     -                     -                     82,311           
Bently Prize for World History -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     26,663           -                     2,133               (130)               -                     -                     28,666           -                     -                     -                     28,666           
Beveridge Family Prize Fund 20,000           4,041             -                     -                     -                     24,041           7,068             (1,500)            2,354               (144)               -                     20,000           11,819           -                     -                     -                     31,819           
Paul Birdsall Prize Fund 10,000           14,867           -                     -                     -                     24,867           -                     (500)               1,949               (119)               -                     10,000           16,197           -                     -                     -                     26,197           
Albert Corey Prize Fund 25,000           53,250           -                     -                     -                     78,250           -                     -                     6,215               (380)               -                     25,000           59,085           -                     -                     -                     84,085           
Premio Del Rey Prize Fund 10,800           16,049           -                     -                     -                     26,849           -                     (500)               2,096               (128)               -                     10,800           17,517           -                     -                     -                     28,317           
John H. Dunning Prize Fund 2,000             29,268           -                     -                     -                     31,268           -                     -                     2,501               (153)               -                     2,000             31,616           -                     -                     -                     33,616           
John K. Fairbank Prize Fund 7,990             47,581           -                     -                     -                     55,571           -                     (1,000)            4,340               (265)               -                     7,990             50,656           -                     -                     -                     58,646           
Morris D. Forkosch Prize Fund 16,000           21,652           -                     -                     -                     37,652           -                     (1,000)            2,905               (177)               -                     16,000           23,380           -                     -                     -                     39,380           
Leo Gershoy Prize Fund 10,000           46,245           -                     -                     -                     56,245           -                     (1,000)            4,413               (269)               -                     10,000           49,389           -                     -                     -                     59,389           
William Gilbert Prize Fund 10,000           133,179         -                     -                     -                     143,179         -                     (2,000)            11,254             (687)               -                     10,000           141,746         -                     -                     -                     151,746         
Clarence H. Haring Prize Fund 3,000             32,184           -                     -                     -                     35,184           -                     -                     2,795               (171)               -                     3,000             34,808           -                     -                     -                     37,808           
Katz Book Prize -                     -                     -                     -                     32,085           -                     2,538               (155)               -                     -                     34,468           -                     34,468           
Joan Kelly Prize Fund 18,692           30,165           -                     48,857           17,757           (1,000)            5,222               (319)               -                     18,692           51,825           -                     70,517           
J. Russell Major Prize Fund 25,000           19,944           -                     -                     -                     44,944           -                     (1,000)            3,494               (213)               -                     25,000           22,225           -                     -                     -                     47,225           
Howard R. Marraro Prize Fund 10,000           15,890           -                     -                     -                     25,890           -                     (500)               2,023               (124)               -                     10,000           17,289           -                     -                     -                     27,289           
George L. Mosse Prize Fund 27,088           6,164             -                     -                     -                     33,252           -                     (500)               2,611               (159)               -                     27,088           8,116             -                     -                     -                     35,204           
James A. Rawley Award 20,000           11,386           -                     -                     -                     31,386           -                     (500)               2,464               (150)               -                     20,000           13,200           -                     -                     -                     33,200           
Nancy Roelker Award 18,000           13,063           -                     -                     -                     31,063           -                     (500)               2,427               (148)               -                     18,000           14,842           -                     -                     -                     32,842           
Rosenburg Prize Fund -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     40,000           -                     3,200               (195)               -                     -                     43,005           -                     -                     -                     43,005           
Andrew D. White Prize Fund -                     15,133           -                     -                     -                     15,133           -                     -                     1,214               (74)                 -                     -                     16,273           -                     -                     -                     16,273           
Wesley-Logan Prize Fund -                     7,555             -                     -                     -                     7,555             300                (500)               588                  (36)                 -                     -                     7,907             -                     -                     -                     7,907             
Herbert Feis Prize Fund -                     10,980           -                     -                     -                     10,980           -                     (500)               846                  (52)                 -                     -                     11,274           -                     -                     -                     11,274           

Total prize funds 254,370         755,319         -                     -                     -                     1,009,689      133,873         (16,500)          89,809             (5,483)            -                     254,370         957,018         -                     -                     -                     1,211,388      

Special Funds

Albert J. Beveridge Memorial Fund 100,000         -                     153,812         -                     153,812         253,812         -                     (6,875)            19,639             (1,199)            -                     100,000         -                     165,377         -                     165,377         265,377         
Littleton-Griswold Fund 25,000           -                     104,168         -                     104,168         129,168         -                     (1,000)            10,187             (622)               -                     25,000           -                     112,733         -                     112,733         137,733         
David M. Matteson Fund 87,000           44,019           185,989         -                     185,989         317,008         -                     -                     25,230             (1,541)            -                     87,000           44,019           209,678         -                     209,678         340,697         
Michael Kraus Fund 15,000           50,229           -                     -                     -                     65,229           -                     (1,500)            5,075               (310)               -                     15,000           53,494           -                     -                     -                     68,494           

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS BY CLASSIFICATION

For the year ended June 30, 2013

Beginning of Year End of Year

Unrestricted Unrestricted

Michael Kraus Fund 15,000           50,229           -                     -                     -                     65,229           -                     (1,500)            5,075               (310)               -                     15,000           53,494           -                     -                     -                     68,494           
Bernadotte Schmitt Endowment Fund -                     -                     455,632         -                     455,632         455,632         1,000             (2,000)            36,189             (2,210)            -                     -                     -                     488,611         -                     488,611         488,611         

Total Special Funds 227,000         94,248           899,601         -                     899,601         1,220,849      1,000             (11,375)          96,320             (5,882)            -                     227,000         97,513           976,399         -                     976,399         1,300,912      

Total Specific Use Funds 481,370         849,566         899,601         -                     899,601         2,230,537      134,873         (27,875)          186,129           (11,365)          -                     481,370         1,054,530      976,399         -                     976,399         2,512,299      

Grant Programs

National Aeronautics and Space
Administration Fellowship Program -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     22,767           (22,767)          -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Mellon Foundation Grant -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     (13,109)          213                  (166)               85,000           -                     -                     71,938           -                     71,938           71,938           
National Endowment for the Humanities

Briding Cultures for Community Colleges -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     109,558         (109,558)        -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Lumina Foundation for Education -                     623,873         -                     -                     -                     623,873         30,000           (233,694)        13,527             (3,123)            -                     -                     430,583         -                     -                     -                     430,583         
Teagle Prep Grant -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     20,000           (12,314)          77                    -                     -                     -                     7,763             -                     -                     -                     7,763             
Oxford University Press -  Guide

Historical Literature -                     98,331           -                     -                     -                     98,331           -                     -                     983                  -                     -                     -                     99,314           -                     -                     -                     99,314           

Total grant programs -                     722,204         -                     -                     -                     722,204         182,325         (391,442)        14,800             (3,289)            85,000           -                     537,660         71,938           -                     71,938           609,598         

Unrestricted Funds

125th Anniversary Fund -                     -                     31,138           -                     31,138           31,138           2,468             -                     2,685               (164)               -                     -                     -                     36,127           -                     36,127           36,127           
Working Capital Fund -                     -                     138,389         -                     138,389         138,389         -                     -                     10,997             (671)               -                     -                     -                     148,715         -                     148,715         148,715         
Endowment Fund -                     -                     588,861         -                     588,861         588,861         12,664           -                     47,885             (2,924)            -                     -                     -                     646,486         -                     646,486         646,486         
Unrestricted Undesignated Funds -                     -                     -                     1,498,155      1,498,155      1,498,155      3,232,577      (3,382,426)     119,002           (7,333)            (85,000)          -                     -                     -                     1,374,975      1,374,975      1,374,975      

Total Unrestricted Funds -                     -                     758,388         1,498,155      2,256,543      2,256,543      3,247,709      (3,382,426)     180,569           (11,092)          (85,000)          -                     -                     831,328         1,374,975      2,206,303      2,206,303      

Total net assets 481,370$       1,571,770$    1,657,989$    1,498,155$    3,156,144$    5,209,284$    3,564,907$    (3,801,743)$   381,498$         (25,746)$        -$                   481,370$       1,592,190$    1,879,665$    1,374,975$    3,254,640$    5,328,200$    

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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Investment 

Income, Realized

Permanently Temporarily Total Gains, and Investment Permanently Temporarily Total

Restricted Restricted Designated Undesignated Unrestricted Total Income Expense Unrealized Losses Fees Transfers Restricted Restricted Designated Undesignated Unrestricted Total

Specific Use Funds:

Prize Funds

Herbert Baxter Adams Prize Fund 5,000$           21,498$         -$                   -$                   -$                   26,498$         -$                   (500)$             799$                (173)$             -$                   5,000$           21,624$         -$                   -$                   -$                   26,624$         
Martin A. Klein Prize Fund -                     70,038           -                     -                     -                     70,038           -                     (1,000)            2,112               (458)               -                     -                     70,692           -                     -                     -                     70,692           
John E. Richards Prize Fund -                     57,418           -                     -                     -                     57,418           -                     (1,000)            1,719               (373)               -                     -                     57,764           -                     -                     -                     57,764           
Ancient History Prize Fund - 

James H. Breasted Fund 10,800           4,213             -                     -                     -                     15,013           -                     (500)               447                  (97)                 -                     10,800           4,063             -                     -                     -                     14,863           
George Louis Beer Prize Fund 5,000             71,766           -                     -                     -                     76,766           -                     (1,000)            2,315               (502)               -                     5,000             72,579           -                     -                     -                     77,579           
Beveridge Family Prize Fund 20,000           3,030             -                     -                     -                     23,030           2,810             (2,350)            704                  (153)               -                     20,000           4,041             -                     -                     -                     24,041           
Paul Birdsall Prize Fund 10,000           14,294           -                     -                     -                     24,294           -                     -                     731                  (158)               -                     10,000           14,867           -                     -                     -                     24,867           
Albert Corey Prize Fund 25,000           51,437           -                     -                     -                     76,437           -                     -                     2,315               (502)               -                     25,000           53,250           -                     -                     -                     78,250           
Premio Del Rey Prize Fund 10,800           15,423           -                     -                     -                     26,223           -                     -                     799                  (173)               -                     10,800           16,049           -                     -                     -                     26,849           
John H. Dunning Prize Fund 2,000             29,037           -                     -                     -                     31,037           -                     (500)               934                  (203)               -                     2,000             29,268           -                     -                     -                     31,268           
John K. Fairbank Prize Fund 7,990             47,277           -                     -                     -                     55,267           -                     (1,000)            1,665               (361)               -                     7,990             47,581           -                     -                     -                     55,571           
Morris D. Forkosch Prize Fund 16,000           21,772           -                     -                     -                     37,772           -                     (1,000)            1,124               (244)               -                     16,000           21,652           -                     -                     -                     37,652           
Leo Gershoy Prize Fund 10,000           45,930           -                     -                     -                     55,930           -                     (1,000)            1,679               (364)               -                     10,000           46,245           -                     -                     -                     56,245           
William Gilbert Prize Fund 10,000           12,393           -                     -                     -                     22,393           119,346         (500)               2,477               (537)               -                     10,000           133,179         -                     -                     -                     143,179         
Clarence H. Haring Prize Fund 3,000             31,368           -                     -                     -                     34,368           -                     -                     1,042               (226)               -                     3,000             32,184           -                     -                     -                     35,184           
Joan Kelly Prize Fund 18,692           20,567           -                     39,259           9,570             (1,000)            1,313               (285)               -                     18,692           30,165           -                     48,857           
J. Russell Major Prize Fund 25,000           19,895           -                     -                     -                     44,895           -                     (1,000)            1,340               (291)               -                     25,000           19,944           -                     -                     -                     44,944           
Howard R. Marraro Prize Fund 10,000           15,785           -                     -                     -                     25,785           -                     (500)               772                  (167)               -                     10,000           15,890           -                     -                     -                     25,890           
George L. Mosse Prize Fund 27,088           5,890             -                     -                     -                     32,978           -                     (500)               988                  (214)               -                     27,088           6,164             -                     -                     -                     33,252           
James A. Rawley Award 20,000           11,155           -                     -                     -                     31,155           -                     (500)               934                  (203)               -                     20,000           11,386           -                     -                     -                     31,386           
Nancy Roelker Award 18,000           12,842           -                     -                     -                     30,842           -                     (500)               921                  (200)               -                     18,000           13,063           -                     -                     -                     31,063           
Andrew D. White Prize Fund -                     14,783           -                     -                     -                     14,783           -                     -                     447                  (97)                 -                     -                     15,133           -                     -                     -                     15,133           
Wesley-Logan Prize Fund -                     7,875             -                     -                     -                     7,875             -                     (500)               230                  (50)                 -                     -                     7,555             -                     -                     -                     7,555             
Herbert Feis Prize Fund -                     11,215           -                     -                     -                     11,215           -                     (500)               338                  (73)                 -                     -                     10,980           -                     -                     -                     10,980           

Total prize funds 254,370         616,902         -                     -                     -                     871,272         131,726         (15,350)          28,145             (6,104)            -                     254,370         755,319         -                     -                     -                     1,009,689      

Special Funds

Albert J. Beveridge Memorial Fund 100,000         -                     153,365         -                     153,365         253,365         -                     (5,500)            7,594               (1,647)            -                     100,000         -                     153,812         -                     153,812         253,812         
Littleton-Griswold Fund 25,000           -                     105,625         -                     105,625         130,625         -                     (4,500)            3,885               (842)               -                     25,000           -                     104,168         -                     104,168         129,168         
David M. Matteson Fund 87,000           44,019           178,642         -                     178,642         309,661         -                     -                     9,381               (2,034)            -                     87,000           44,019           185,989         -                     185,989         317,008         
Michael Kraus Fund 15,000           50,203           -                     -                     -                     65,203           -                     (1,500)            1,949               (423)               -                     15,000           50,229           -                     -                     -                     65,229           
Bernadotte Schmitt Endowment Fund -                     -                     458,474         -                     458,474         458,474         -                     (13,550)          13,672             (2,964)            -                     -                     -                     455,632         -                     455,632         455,632         

Total Special Funds 227,000         94,222           896,106         -                     896,106         1,217,328      -                     (25,050)          36,481             (7,910)            -                     227,000         94,248           899,601         -                     899,601         1,220,849      

Total Specific Use Funds 481,370         711,123         896,106         -                     896,106         2,088,599      131,726         (40,400)          64,626             (14,014)          -                     481,370         849,566         899,601         -                     899,601         2,230,537      

Grant Programs

National Aeronautics and Space
Administration Fellowship Program -                     5,000             -                     -                     -                     5,000             25,000           (30,000)          -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

Mellon Research Planning Grant -                     12,822           -                     -                     -                     12,822           -                     (12,822)          -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
National Endowment for the Humanities

Briding Cultures for Community Colleges -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     20,985           (20,985)          -                       -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     
Lumina Foundation for Education -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     767,200         (152,352)        11,161             (2,136)            -                     -                     623,873         -                     -                     -                     623,873         
Oxford University Press -  Guide

Historical Literature -                     98,331           -                     -                     -                     98,331           -                     -                     -                       -                     -                     -                     98,331           -                     -                     -                     98,331           

Total grant programs -                     116,153         -                     -                     -                     116,153         813,185         (216,159)        11,161             (2,136)            -                     -                     722,204         -                     -                     -                     722,204         

Unrestricted Funds

125th Anniversary Fund -                     -                     18,449           -                     18,449           18,449           12,105           -                     745                  (161)               -                     -                     -                     31,138           -                     31,138           31,138           
Working Capital Fund -                     -                     135,187         -                     135,187         135,187         -                     -                     4,088               (886)               -                     -                     -                     138,389         -                     138,389         138,389         
Endowment Fund -                     -                     578,511         -                     578,511         578,511         8,827             (12,153)          17,462             (3,786)            -                     -                     -                     588,861         -                     588,861         588,861         
Unrestricted Undesignated Funds -                     -                     -                     1,461,823      1,461,823      1,461,823      3,250,323      (3,252,817)     49,331             (10,505)          -                     -                     -                     -                     1,498,155      1,498,155      1,498,155      

Total Unrestricted Funds -                     -                     732,147         1,461,823      2,193,970      2,193,970      3,271,255      (3,264,970)     71,626             (15,338)          -                     -                     -                     758,388         1,498,155      2,256,543      2,256,543      

Total net assets 481,370$       827,276$       1,628,253$    1,461,823$    3,090,076$    4,398,722$    4,216,166$    (3,521,529)$   147,413$         (31,488)$        -$                   481,370$       1,571,770$    1,657,989$    1,498,155$    3,156,144$    5,209,284$    

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS BY CLASSIFICATION

For the year ended June 30, 2012

Beginning of Year End of Year

Unrestricted Unrestricted

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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2013 2012 2011

REVENUE AND SUPPORT

Membership dues 1,089,527$    1,088,216$    1,071,225$  

Annual Conference 973,953         923,491         1,042,276    

American Historical Review 558,094         560,000         560,000       

Publications 545,829         537,891         543,532       

Program service fees 50,000           72,767           72,332         

Administrative income 47,843           38,835           10,000         

Prize administration fee 7,243             4,774             -                   

Contributions 36,506           38,017           37,283         

Interest allocation from 

designated investments 156,600         100,000         100,000       

Total revenue and support 3,465,595      3,363,991      3,436,648    

EXPENSES

Programs:

American Historical Review 487,241         454,083         465,407       

Annual Meeting 569,449         603,660         557,710       

Membership 280,946         262,046         244,623       

Publications 670,125         651,954         680,582       

Total programs 2,007,761      1,971,743      1,948,322    

Support services:

General and Administrative 1,060,239      861,761         846,738       

Council 375,838         377,512         409,981       

Total support services 1,436,077      1,239,273      1,256,719    

Total expenses 3,443,838      3,211,016      3,205,041    

Change in net assets 21,757$         152,975$       231,607$     

AMERICAN HISTORICAL ASSOCIATION

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENTS OF GENERAL OPERATIONS

For the years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011

See accompanying notes and independent auditors' report.
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